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          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: We're going to

          3  begin.  I'm Council Member Quinn, the Chair of the

          4  Health Committee.  I want to thank everyone for

          5  coming today.  I'm joined today by my Chief- of

          6  Staff, Peter Rider, who missed the first hearing we

          7  had on Dental Clinics, because he is a bad person

          8  and took the day off.  If it was an unsuccessful

          9  hearing, it's Peter's fault.  I'm  only kidding.

         10  Council Member Eva Moskowitz from Manhattan, who is

         11  the prime- sponsor and author of the bill we're

         12  taking up today; a member of the Health Committee,

         13  Al Vann from Brooklyn, and another member of the

         14  Health Committee, Council Member Helen Sears from

         15  Queens.  We have Chris Winward of Investigations;

         16  Perry Stein, who is the Policy Analyst for the

         17  Committee; Judith Macfarlane, who is downstairs; in

         18  the back we have Michael Polenberg from Finance;

         19  Luisa Sanchez from Finance, and, oh, Darrel White

         20  from Al Vann's staff.  There may be other staff

         21  coming in.

         22                 Just so that folks know when there

         23  are more of the Committee members here, I might take

         24  a slight break from this hearing and just give

         25  people a brief update on what has transpired
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          2  regarding the Dental Clinics, between our last

          3  hearing, which was our last hearing, and today.  So

          4  just if you step out and we were talking about

          5  insurance, and you come back and we're talking about

          6  teeth, you have not lost your mind.

          7                 Today we're going to have our first

          8  hearing on Intro. 13- A, a bill which we have kind

          9  of internally dubbed the Health Care Mobilization

         10  Act.  The goal of this bill is to try to increase

         11  the numbers of eligible New Yorkers, people who are

         12  eligible for Child Health Plus, Family Health Plus,

         13  HHC Plus, Medicaid, et cetera.  To try to expand the

         14  number of folks who are eligible for that to get on

         15  it and, therefore, get the coverage they need.

         16                 In 2000, many people probably know,

         17  the Mayor's Office then estimated that there was

         18  over 500,000 New Yorkers eligible to receive public

         19  health insurance, and that is prior to even the

         20  start of HHC Plus.  And of those, 325,000 were

         21  children. With the phasing in of Family Health Plus,

         22  the Mayor's Office estimated that an additional

         23  375,000 uninsured adults were eligible for coverage

         24  under the program.

         25                 In response to this, the fact that
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          2  these folks were not getting the coverage they

          3  could, in 2000, then Mayor Giuliani, announced the

          4  creation of HealthStat.  A partnership between the

          5  Mayor's Office of Health Insurance Access and more

          6  than 20 City agencies to focus on enrolling eligible

          7  individuals in public health insurance programs.

          8  And between June of 2000 and October of 2001,

          9  HealthStat accounted for 180,000 enrollments based

         10  on its efforts and estimates that even more, - -

         11  oh, I get it, let me read, I'm reading a talking

         12  point here.  They accounted for 180,000 people who

         13  enrolled through their direct contact or as a result

         14  of their advertising campaign.

         15                 Now although these numbers are

         16  obviously encouraging, they're not nearly enough.

         17  They're, obviously, people who could get covered and

         18  are not getting covered.  And those folks are ending

         19  up in the Health and Hospitals Corporation's

         20  emergency rooms, many of them, seeking care because

         21  they have no where else to go.  We know that that is

         22  more costly to the City, and not good for New

         23  Yorkers because what ends up happening is that

         24  people do not get preventive or primary care, they

         25  wait to the very last moment to go to the emergency
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          2  room.  And that is certainly not how we want the

          3  health care of New Yorkers to be.  This is also

          4  doubly dangerous given the financial situation that

          5  the City is in, and that there, you know, have been

          6  cuts to Health and Hospitals Corporation, and, you

          7  know, hopefully it will not happen, but there, you

          8  know, are certainly proposed cuts to Health and

          9  Hospitals Corporation coming up.

         10                 We have seen the success of enrolling

         11  New Yorkers in these programs, particularly when we

         12  simplify the programs, we look at the Disaster

         13  Relief Medicaid Program that was created after the

         14  World Trade Center tragedy.  That program though,

         15  expires at the end of March, so there are another

         16  significant number of New Yorkers who are covered

         17  presently, who will not be covered.

         18                 And I just want to add an anecdote to

         19  explain the importance of this program.  I'm sure

         20  you all have heard in the papers about that horrible

         21  hit and run incidents, which occurred in Manhattan,

         22  actually in my district.  One of the people who were

         23  hit was a young girl who is a student at Liberty

         24  High School.  And Liberty High School is a school

         25  for young people and their families who have just
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          2  come to the United States.  Her family recently came

          3  here, not really, have not been able to get a job

          4  yet, she is covered by, I believe, Child Health

          5  Plus.  Her family, her teacher, the mother went to

          6  the teacher and said, I do not have health

          7  insurance, what am I going to do, my daughter was

          8  injured in this hit and run.  They called our

          9  office, found out that the girl was already enrolled

         10  in Child Health Plus and she was going to get the

         11  full coverage she needed to take care of the

         12  injuries that she sustained in the hit and run

         13  accident.  But if that was not the case, we can only

         14  think of the you know, we heard great relief in the

         15  mother's voice when we told her that.  We would not

         16  have heard that had she not already been

         17  successfully enrolled.

         18                 The purpose, you know, our efforts to

         19  get more people into insurance so they can really

         20  get the benefits they deserve and need, when 13- A

         21  would be passed, it would require that the

         22  Department of Health publish a brochure that details

         23  people's public health options.  And I think it is

         24  important to note, we're talking about one pamphlet

         25  that would have all of your options.  We all know
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          2  when we go somewhere and you take 10 pamphlets off a

          3  rack, it's completely overwhelming, and you end up

          4  probably reading one or two of them.  It's even more

          5  overwhelming if you're in, if your health is not

          6  well, if your child's health is not well, and you're

          7  trying to weigh through complicated medical

          8  information.  Having all the options in one place,

          9  if you look at Disaster Relief Medicaid, how many

         10  more people enrolled when it was simple, there was

         11  one page.

         12                 The other thing is expanding on the

         13  concept of People Legislation that then Council

         14  member, now Speaker Miller drafted and passed a few

         15  years ago, the Pro- Voter Bill.  This legislation

         16  would also require that City agencies who already

         17  have contact with New Yorkers, and already many of

         18  the City agencies have contact with New Yorkers who

         19  are eligible for the programs. That when they're

         20  already having that contact that they distribute

         21  this information to help get those folks aware of

         22  their options and then enrolled in the program.

         23                 Before we start, I just want to note

         24  that this is an "A" version of the bill.  If folks

         25  had seen the prior version, we have added some
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          2  specificity of languages that the brochure would

          3  have to be in.  We have tinkered with some of the

          4  agencies, and we wanted to make sure those social

          5  service agencies who contract with the City would

          6  give out pamphlets.  But we did not become

          7  burdensome and have, you know, every group that gets

          8  a thousand dollars, you know, so we have tagged the

          9  agencies that would have to distribute, to the small

         10  purchase limit.  And this would be not for present

         11  contracts, that is in the "A" version, it would be

         12  for new contracts and when people renew their

         13  contracts.               So prior to hearing from

         14  the agencies, we're going to hear from Council

         15  Member Moskowitz, who is the person who came up with

         16  this idea and introduced the bill.

         17                 And we have also been joined by

         18  Council Member Clarke, a member of the Committee

         19  from Brooklyn.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  Thank you,

         21  very much, Madam Chair, for holding this hearing and

         22  doing so, so expeditiously.  You have, you know,

         23  already said, I think, the main motivations for the

         24  bill.  I just wanted to add that for me the impetus

         25  was having done enrollment door- to- door in
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          2  Washington Heights and Harlem, day- in and day- out,

          3  it is a very, very difficult undertaking.  And it is

          4  very sad to see a program, it's often hard, and I'm

          5  sure the advocates in this room will know that it is

          6  very hard to get a program, to get the funding to

          7  get program.   And then once you have it, when it is

          8  not fully utilized, it is a very sad day.  And we

          9  have in New York City over a million people who are

         10  eligible and are not yet enrolled.   And it seems to

         11  me that this bill would go a small measure in the

         12  direction facilitating access to information.

         13                 And I just wanted to make one other

         14  point, which is, it seems to me, this bill is very

         15  much in keeping with our new Mayor's philosophy of

         16  customer oriented government, a government which

         17  understands the importance of streamlining and

         18  understands the importance of access to information.

         19    It seems to me that this is analogous to his

         20  proposal of a 311 system, where, you know, every

         21  time you go to a government agency you get the

         22  information that may be relevant to other parts of

         23  your life.  And so, my hope is that this will be

         24  supported, you know, with a broad coalition of

         25  support.
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          2                 Thank you very much, Madam Chair.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Excuse me, thank

          4  you.  We're now going to hear from Deputy

          5  Commissioner of the Department of Public Health now,

          6  I guess.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER:  Not quite.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Pardon me?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER:  Not quite.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Not quite, okay.

         11  James Capoziello, and also Linda Hacker from the

         12  Mayor's Office of Health Insurance Access.  And you

         13  guys should re- identify yourselves.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CAPOZIELLO:  Good

         15  morning.  My name is James Capoziello, and I'm the

         16  Deputy Commissioner of the New York City Department

         17  of Health, for the Division of Health Care Access.

         18                 I want to start by saying I

         19  appreciate the opportunity to address the members of

         20  the City Council's Health Committee on the proposed

         21  legislation regarding the distribution of

         22  information on public health insurance programs.

         23  I'm to speak about the Department's extensive

         24  outreach efforts concerning public health insurance

         25  options.
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          2                 Seated at the table with me is Linda

          3  Hacker, the Acting Director of the Mayor's Office of

          4  Health Insurance Access, who will also be presenting

          5  testimony.  Also with me, is Ms. Linda Barr Gale,

          6  the Executive Director of the Department's Bureau of

          7  Health Insurance Services.  In my remarks, I will

          8  limit myself to how the proposed legislation will

          9  affect the Department of Health. Ms. Hacker will

         10  speak to broader issues of the effect of legislation

         11  on other City agencies.

         12                 It is a core public health principle

         13  that public education through dissemination of

         14  education must be a key strategy to improve the

         15  health of the community.  For this reason, we laud

         16  the City Council's initiative in attempting to

         17  achieve a goal of greater public awareness as to the

         18  availability of publicly funded health insurance.

         19  However, we are concerned that the legislation as

         20  proposed goes too far in proscribing the

         21  methodologies to be used in achieving these ends.

         22                 The Department has initiated efforts

         23  to reach the uninsured, not only with information,

         24  but also with individualized enrollment assistance.

         25  We have developed creative and flexible outreach
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          2  strategies that are focused on targeting our message

          3  to the uninsured population who are eligible for

          4  Child Health Plus, Family Health Plus and Medicaid.

          5  Let me detail some of these efforts for you.

          6                 Health Care Access through the Bureau

          7  of Health Insurance Services has taken the following

          8  actions to inform the public about the availability

          9  of health insurance programs.  We developed a

         10  pamphlet with a prepaid mail- in response - -

         11                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Can I interrupt

         12  you?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CAPOZIELLO:

         14  Sure.

         15                 (Council Member Quinn is not using

         16  the microphone.)

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CAPOZIELLO: I'm

         18  sorry?  I'm at that age where I have to put the

         19  glasses on to see, to hear.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  What part, period

         21  of time did these occur?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CAPOZIELLO:

         23  Okay, the prepaid mailing with the pamphlets, with

         24  the birth records began about a year and a half ago.

         25    Okay.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  And it's ongoing?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CAPOZIELLO:  And

          4  it's ongoing.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Thank you very

          6  much.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CAPOZIELLO:

          8  Through that we mail the pamphlet, as I say, with a

          9  mail- in response card to every family that has a

         10  newborn or approximately 125,000 live births

         11  annually.

         12                 In addition, as part of the joint

         13  back- to- school effort between the Board of

         14  Education and the Department's Bureau of School

         15  Health, over 180,000 back- to- school brochures for

         16  CHP and Family Health Plus information are

         17  distributed to elementary and intermediate schools

         18  during Spring pre- registration and the Autumn Back-

         19  to- School Campaigns.

         20                 The Department also has a web site

         21  that provides a description of Child Health Plus,

         22  Family Health Plus, Medicaid and the PCAP program

         23  with information about eligibility levels, where to

         24  apply and what documentation is needed to bring to

         25  enrollment appointments.
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          2                 A third pamphlet was developed for

          3  distribution by our staff at Health Centers and

          4  Health Fairs by DOH programs.

          5                 We have also partnered with the

          6  Pfizer Corporation, who has developed a mobile unit

          7  for health screening.  DOH insurance outreach

          8  materials and enrollers are made available citywide

          9  in conjunction with the outreach vehicle.

         10                 Also, recognizing that faith- based

         11  organizations play an important role in education

         12  and assistance, and service advocates for those in

         13  need of health care services, next week, we are

         14  launching an outreach initiative.  Approximately 900

         15  faith based organizations have been invited to

         16  workshops, obviously, not all at the same one, where

         17  they will learn about the different government

         18  sponsored health insurance products and changes in

         19  the Medicaid Managed Care program.  We hope that

         20  this will lead to a fuller ongoing partnership with

         21  many of these organizations.

         22                 However, our experience has taught us

         23  that education alone is not as effective as

         24  education plus direct enrollment assistance.  One-

         25  on- one encounters offer this chance to promote
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          2  public health awareness and the efficacy of

          3  prevention.  To that end, the Department has 25

          4  public health advisors who are responsible for

          5  providing facilitated enrollment services to the

          6  uninsured.  This is done primarily through 10 health

          7  centers around the City.

          8                 To date, our facilitated enroller

          9  staff has assisted 16,236 previously uninsured New

         10  Yorkers to gain insurance. Additionally, through a

         11  cooperative effort between the Department of Health

         12  and the State Department of Health, an automated

         13  process was developed whereby newborns eligible for

         14  Medicaid are identified and enrolled into Medicaid

         15  without the need of further action by their parents.

         16    Since July 2000, 18,889 uninsured newborns have

         17  been enrolled through the Vital Records Newborn

         18  Enrollment Project.

         19                 In support of facilitated enrollment

         20  services, the Department has also developed a

         21  provider directory, excuse me, to assist enrollers

         22  in selecting an appropriate health plan by giving

         23  them information on eligible doctors in their

         24  community.  And has implemented a proactive referral

         25  system for DOH programs located in health centers

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            17

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  where facilitated enrollers are made available.

          3                 Since 1998, when responsibility for

          4  Medicaid Managed Care was transferred to the

          5  Department of Health, the Department has worked

          6  closely with HRA, the State Department of Health,

          7  and Maximus, the State's enrollment broker, to

          8  ensure wide dissemination of Medicaid Managed Care

          9  enrollment information. These efforts have included

         10  a telephone help line, mailing out informational

         11  package and community outreach.  And when customers

         12  call New York Medicaid choice and they're not

         13  enrolled in one of the government insurance

         14  programs, the counselors will make necessary

         15  referrals so that the client may achieve enrollment

         16  for whatever program they might be eligible.

         17                 In conclusion, the Department

         18  believes strongly in an outreach and information

         19  dissemination as evidenced by my testimony.  But we

         20  also believe the efforts to impose methods on the

         21  Department through legislation are unnecessary and

         22  could, in fact, become counterproductive by

         23  requiring us to allocate scarce resources into

         24  avenues that may not be productive.  To need to seek

         25  legislative change to amend operational details when
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          2  mandated processes prove ineffective, is overly

          3  cumbersome and unduly restrictive of agency

          4  managerial discretion in achieving public health

          5  goals.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  I think we will

          8  just let Ms. Hacker from the Office of Health

          9  Insurance Access go first, speak, and then we will

         10  have questions.

         11                 MS. HACKER:  Good morning, Chairwoman

         12  Quinn and members of the Committee on Health.  Thank

         13  you for inviting me to speak to you today.  I am

         14  Linda Hacker, Acting - -

         15                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  I'm sorry.  Oh,

         16  it's attached.

         17                 MS. HACKER:  Do you have copies?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  No, it's not.  Do

         19  you have copies of your testimony, because I do not

         20  think it's attached, is it attached?  No, we do not

         21  have copies of it.  Doug?

         22                 SERGEANT- AT- ARMS:  I will take care

         23  of it, thank you.

         24                 MS. HACKER:  I'm Linda Hacker, Acting

         25  Director of the Mayor's Office of Health Insurance
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          2  Access.  I'm here to discuss the proposal to mandate

          3  the creation of a pamphlet describing the

          4  availability of public health insurance programs and

          5  its distribution through designated City agencies,

          6  as well as our office's efforts to raise awareness

          7  of, and increase enrollment in Medicaid, Child

          8  Health Plus and Family Health Plus.

          9                 The Mayor's Office of Health

         10  Insurance Access was established in recognition of

         11  the importance of ensuring that all eligible New

         12  Yorkers get the health insurance that they need to

         13  promote the health and well- being of City

         14  residents, and to ease the burden of serving

         15  uninsured patients from the City's Health Care

         16  Safety Net facilities.  Our office is extremely

         17  pleased to see the Council members taking such a

         18  keen interest in this vital issue, and we hope that

         19  we're able to work closely with members to reduce

         20  the number of uninsured in New York.

         21                 However, given the already extensive

         22  efforts that the City has made and continues to

         23  make, not only to educate New Yorkers on the

         24  availability of public health insurance programs,

         25  but also to enroll them, we do not support
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          2  legislation requiring City agencies to distribute

          3  literature on public health insurance programs at

          4  all points of contact with the public.  Such a

          5  requirement would duplicate current efforts,

          6  potentially require distribution materials to

          7  populations unlikely to benefit, and needlessly

          8  raise costs at a time of extreme financial pressures

          9  on the City.

         10                 The Mayor's Office of Health

         11  Insurance Access was created in January of 2000 with

         12  the goal of increasing access to health insurance

         13  for New Yorkers.  Our top priority is to ensure that

         14  everyone who is eligible for public health insurance

         15  is enrolled.  To achieve this, we launched

         16  HealthStat, a comprehensive citywide initiative to

         17  enroll uninsured New Yorkers in existing public

         18  health insurance programs.  City agencies were

         19  directed to use every interaction with families to

         20  promote public health insurance.  Over 20 City

         21  agencies and hundreds of community partners have

         22  been mobilized to identify, educate and enroll

         23  eligible City residents into Medicaid, Child Health

         24  Plus, and now, Family Health Plus.  Since its launch

         25  over 230,000 individuals have been enrolled in
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          2  public health insurance programs as a direct result

          3  of HealthStat enrollment activities.

          4                 One of HealthStat's goals is to

          5  improve the public awareness of the availability of

          6  public health insurance.  Our office has developed a

          7  range of outreach materials, such as brochures, palm

          8  cards and posters in both English and Spanish. City

          9  agencies are encouraged to use the encounters they

         10  already have with families to educate and refer the

         11  uninsured to enrollment centers.  A few examples of

         12  the many opportunities agents have already

         13  capitalized on to distribute pamphlets, flyers and

         14  palm cards about public health insurance programs

         15  include:            The Administration for

         16  Children's Services:  Outreach materials are mailed

         17  to ACS clients with voucher enrollment packets,

         18  monthly recertification notices, and child care

         19  referral lists.

         20                 The Board of Education:  Every child

         21  registering for school receives an information

         22  packet on children's health insurance.  The Board of

         23  Education has also mailed information about public

         24  health insurance to parents, principals and district

         25  health coordinators.  In addition, a question
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          2  regarding health insurance status has been added to

          3  the emergency contact cards, which are completed by

          4  every family.

          5                 The Community Assistance Unit:

          6  Brochures and palm cards are available to all

          7  Community Board officers, are included in all street

          8  activity permits.

          9                 The Department of Housing

         10  Preservation and Development:  All HPD tenants and

         11  Section 8 tenants receive outreach materials in the

         12  mail.  In addition, materials are distributed to

         13  tenants who attend housing education courses and

         14  support services programs.

         15                 The Department of Health:  The Bureau

         16  of Vital Statistics mails a pamphlet about public

         17  health insurance for children with every newborn

         18  birth certificate.

         19                 The Department of Youth and Community

         20  Development: Materials are distributed through the

         21  Beacon programs, Citizenship New York City Offices,

         22  and the New York City Adult Literacy Initiatives.

         23                 The New York City Housing Authority:

         24  Brochures are included in all public housing

         25  application mailings, and are now available in
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          2  NYCHA's 250 management offices, and 110 community

          3  centers.

          4                 City agencies have also included

          5  information on public health insurance in

          6  newsletters both for their staffs and the clients

          7  they serve.  They often incorporate this information

          8  at presentations in the community ranging from

          9  parent/teacher conferences to Fire Safety Education

         10  events, and Health Fairs.  In addition, public

         11  health insurance information is available on the

         12  City's web site and on the State Department of

         13  Health's web site.

         14                 With the launch of Family Health Plus

         15  for adults, the City must update our outreach

         16  materials.  The Mayor's Office of Health Insurance

         17  Access is in the process of developing new palm

         18  cards and posters to introduce Family Health Plus as

         19  well as brochures that describe all the public

         20  health insurance programs that are now available.

         21  These materials will be available in English and

         22  Spanish and possibly Russian, Chinese, and Haitian

         23  Creole.

         24                 HealthStat's outreach activities have

         25  gone far beyond the distribution of written
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          2  materials on the availability of public health

          3  insurance, including a $2.5 million public education

          4  campaign in partnership with 1199/SEIU and the

          5  Greater New York Hospital Association, development

          6  of a pre-screening hotline and a referral system to

          7  connect uninsured individuals to enrollers.

          8                 In early 2001, we shifted

          9  HealthStat's focus from an outreach and referral

         10  strategy and began to concentrate on identifying

         11  opportunities for enrolling families upon the first

         12  agency encounter.  Key strategies included:

         13                 Direct Enrollment:  Some agencies

         14  have been able to engage in or improve direct

         15  enrollment activities.  For example, the Department

         16  of Health hired enrollers to ensure ongoing coverage

         17  in critical locations including DOH clinics, public

         18  schools, and NYCHA developments.

         19                 Enroller Partnerships:  Most agencies

         20  have teamed up with enroller organizations,

         21  including community- based organizations, health

         22  plans, and City staff, and have developed enrollment

         23  strategies that take advantage of agency

         24  opportunities to interact with eligible families.

         25  These opportunities range from enrollment events at
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          2  Little League registration in City parks through the

          3  Department of Parks and Recreation to special family

          4  visit days in prisons sponsored by the Department of

          5  Correction where enrollment assistance is provided

          6  to families of inmates.

          7                 School Incentive Program:

          8  Recognizing the unique opportunity to reach

          9  uninsured children through New York City's public

         10  schools, the School Incentive Program was

         11  established in January 2001 to encourage greater

         12  school involvement.  Schools partnered with

         13  enrollers to identify uninsured students and ensure

         14  they are enrolled.  Schools were eligible for awards

         15  up to $50,000, depending on the number of children

         16  they enrolled.  In December 2001, 43 schools

         17  qualified to receive School Incentive awards ranging

         18  from $625 to $50,000, with 10 schools winning the

         19  maximum award of $50,000.

         20                 Linking Health Insurance to Other

         21  Public Programs:              In addition to working

         22  with City agencies to find and enroll eligible

         23  individuals, HealthStat has turned its attention to

         24  more strategic efforts to identify and enroll large

         25  groups of eligible New Yorkers in public health
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          2  insurance programs. We have been working to link the

          3  enrollment processes and systems of different public

          4  benefits programs with public health insurance

          5  programs.  These initiatives have enabled HealthStat

          6  to target eligible populations more effectively and

          7  enroll them more efficiently.  For example, all

          8  people applying for Food Stamps can now enroll in

          9  Medicaid at the Food Stamp office using the same

         10  application.  Prior to this change, families had to

         11  fill out two separate applications and apply at two

         12  different offices for Food Stamps and Medicaid.

         13  Additionally, enrollers have been placed at all four

         14  Administration for Children's Services' subsidized

         15  child care enrollment offices, enabling families to

         16  enroll into Medicaid or Child Health Plus using the

         17  same documents required for subsidized child care in

         18  a single visit.  HealthStat is continuing to explore

         19  the feasibility of other program linkages, such as

         20  public housing.

         21                 Raising awareness of the availability

         22  of public insurance programs is a key component to

         23  reducing the number of uninsured.  As we have

         24  learned, tapping into the networks City agencies

         25  already have with the public to distribute written
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          2  materials can be an effective outreach tool.

          3  However, requiring agencies to do so at all points

          4  of contact with the public would duplicate many

          5  efforts currently taking place and would not allow

          6  us to use the necessary judgement to determine the

          7  most efficient and effective opportunities for

          8  outreach.  Such a mandate has the potential to

          9  require distribution to populations who are unlikely

         10  to be eligible for these programs and would

         11  unnecessarily increase City's expenses at a time of

         12  severe financial constraints.  In addition, our

         13  experience at the Mayor's Office of Health Insurance

         14  Access has shown that outreach in itself is not

         15  always enough.  It is important to seize

         16  opportunities to enroll eligible individuals

         17  directly into health insurance programs.

         18                 The implementation of Family Health

         19  Plus in New York City this month offers the prospect

         20  of health insurance coverage for hundreds of

         21  thousands of uninsured adults.  Our office has been

         22  working with agencies to develop their outreach and

         23  enrollment plans to educate low- income workers of

         24  the programs availability and identify points of

         25  contact that lend themselves to enrollment in Family
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          2  Health Plus.

          3                 We hope that we can also collaborate

          4  with Council members as we move forward.  We welcome

          5  you ideas on how to reach out to uninsured

          6  populations and to assure access to health insurance

          7  for all New Yorkers.

          8                 Thank you for the opportunity to

          9  testify before you today.  I am happy to answer any

         10  questions you may have about HealthStat and our

         11  outreach and enrollment strategies and experiences.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Great, thank you.

         13    I just wanted to say we have been joined by the

         14  Minority Leader, who is a member of the Committee,

         15  Council Member Oddo, and also by a member of the

         16  Committee from Brooklyn, Council Member Stewart.

         17                 I'm just going to ask a couple of

         18  questions, and then if it is all right with everyone

         19  on the Committee, let Eva ask some questions as the

         20  author of the bill.  First, I just want to say one

         21  thing, which is that the point of the bill,

         22  obviously, is to utilize the contacts which already

         23  occur with government, and certainly, to focus on

         24  the contacts with the populations who are in need

         25  and qualify.  So as this bill moves forward, you
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          2  know, if there are agencies in here that you think,

          3  and this one does not necessarily, we're not really

          4  sure how this agency would make sense, it does not

          5  really seem to us that, you know, the populations

          6  we're talking about most interact, you know, we

          7  should sit down and discuss that.  I mean, so I

          8  think that concern is certainly one that we're aware

          9  of, we want to make sure we get the info to the

         10  people in need, you know, and are not being kind of

         11  too broad or whatever.  So that issue you raised is

         12  one that we are mindful of and we would very much

         13  appreciate the opportunity, not today necessarily in

         14  the hearing, but at another point with Legislative

         15  Affairs to go down agency by agency in the bill, and

         16  you know, prioritize, change, delete, you know, et

         17  cetera.

         18                 Commissioner Capoziello, in your

         19  testimony you say that the bill goes too far in

         20  prescribing the methodologies to be used in

         21  achieving these ends.  And also, you say kind of the

         22  same thing in, a similar thing, in the last

         23  paragraph of your testimony. On page 4 of the bill,

         24  about one- quarter of the way down, let's see, line

         25  7 - -

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            30

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CAPOZIELLO:  I do

          3  not think I have the revised version with me.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Okay, we can give

          5  it to you.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CAPOZIELLO:  I'm

          7  sorry, okay.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  But anyway I

          9  could just read you what it says.  Line 7, the one

         10  that says, "Pamphlet," and then the Roman numeral,

         11   "IV."

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CAPOZIELLO:

         13  Okay.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  "Adopt such rules

         15  and regulations as may be necessary to implement the

         16  local law that added this section."  So, I do not

         17  know, there might be some confusion, we're not

         18  specifically setting out how each agency has to do

         19  it, we are deferring that the agency would know

         20  best, and that they would have, they would then come

         21  up with their own eternal regulations.  So based on

         22  that point in the bill, which may not have been

         23  clear enough in the first version, where is it that

         24  we go too far?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CAPOZIELLO:  I
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          2  think the best way to respond to that is by maybe

          3  giving an example.  As we read the bill, virtually

          4  any piece of mail that the Department sends out to

          5  anyone must include this information.  Now when we

          6  have looked at where we include our pamphlets, we

          7  have done so in a way in trying to predict what

          8  would be the most fruitful group of people to

          9  target.  The Department sends out approximately a

         10  million pieces of mail a year, some of those,

         11  clearly, would not be appropriate.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Clearly.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CAPOZIELLO:  And

         14  I do not believe that the bill clearly defines or

         15  allows that.  Now to say it can be done by

         16  regulation, maybe is an improvement, but that still

         17  requires a regulatory process any time you want to

         18  change, you want to - -

         19                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  No, I think - -

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CAPOZIELLO: - -

         21  say, I no longer want to send to this group, I want

         22   - -

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Right,

         24  Commissioner, I think perhaps, the point of this,

         25  and the Counsel could comment if I'm not being clear
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          2  enough, is for the agency - -  according to Ms.

          3  Hacker's testimony, it says, the Department of

          4  Health, presently you send out information with the

          5  Bureau of Vital Statistic mails a pamphlet about

          6  health insurance for children with every newborn

          7  birth certificate.  So this enumerates a mailing

          8  that it goes in. So I agree with you, for it to be

          9  in  every mailing, you know, every time the

         10  Commissioner sends me a letter, right, he does not

         11  need to send me a Child Health Plus pamphlet that

         12  would be absurd and wasteful.  But somewhere between

         13  when you're born and every mailing there are missed

         14  opportunities.

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CAPOZIELLO:

         16  Right.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  And we agree with

         18  you that you all know those better than we do,

         19  because you run the agency.  So what this is saying,

         20  I believe, and the Counsel should correct me if I'm

         21  wrong, is it would be up to the agencies to decide

         22  where the right point is between there and here.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CAPOZIELLO:  It

         24  may be something as simple as then that we're

         25  reading the same thing differently.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  In a different

          3  way, okay.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CAPOZIELLO:  When

          5  I see the phrase "adopt rules and regulations," we

          6  interpret that to mean going through a formal rule-

          7  making, - -

          8                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:   Okay.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CAPOZIELLO: - -

         10  regulatory process - -

         11                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Fair enough.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CAPOZIELLO: - -

         13  as required by the City Administrative Procedure Act

         14  or through the Board of Health or some other such

         15  vehicle.  That then, when you want to change

         16  something, let's just say for whatever reason it was

         17  no longer felt appropriate to use the birth

         18  certificate route, it's hard to imagine, but let's

         19  say that happened.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Just for argument

         21  sake.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CAPOZIELLO:  For

         23  us to have to continue to do what we have determined

         24  to be an unproductive process, while we go through

         25  the procedure that would be required to formally
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          2  change such a rule or regulation, strikes us as not

          3  an effective approach.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  But, this is just

          5  to be clear cut as we detail the work we have to do

          6  moving forward, one point, is look at the agencies

          7  in the bill, but it sounds like we're saying, you

          8  know, that there is an openness to doing this within

          9  the agencies, but we just need to sit down and make

         10  sure the bill is clear enough in the process, and

         11  that it is not one which becomes, you know, creates

         12  an internal, unnecessary bureaucracy and has

         13  flexibility.  We want to make sure it happens, but

         14  we have flexibility.  So that sounds like something

         15  we can productively discuss with Legislative Affairs

         16  following the hearing, would you agree?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CAPOZIELLO:  I

         18  can only speak to the Health Department.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Right.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CAPOZIELLO:  And

         21  clearly, you know, we believe this is an important

         22  effort.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  It is something

         24  that is needed.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CAPOZIELLO:  And
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          2  reaching out to the public is an important way of

          3  promoting health insurance, and we have no problem

          4  with working with you on that.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Okay.  And would

          6  the Department of Health agree that it's a good

          7  idea, there is a need to have one pamphlet that sums

          8  everything up?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CAPOZIELLO:  I'm

         10  not as certain about that, because at times you may

         11  want to target your message to who is intended to

         12  receive the pamphlet.  For example, again, using the

         13  birth certificate process, not everyone who receives

         14  that, in fact, a smaller percentage of the people

         15  who receive those would be eligible for these

         16  programs.  So there may be, that maybe, you may look

         17  to embed that in a broader public health message

         18  regarding newborns.  I'm not, you know, I'm just

         19  saying that is a possibility.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  But we actually

         21  do not, but we do not know how large the family is,

         22  or whether their aunts live there.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CAPOZIELLO:  Well

         24  it is not a question of, I mean, that is every live

         25  birth in the City.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  No, no, no, my

          3  point is, if you sent me one after I had a baby, you

          4  do not know whether my grandmother lives with me,

          5  whether my aunt lives with me, you do not know

          6  whether my cousin lives next door and I'm going to

          7  give it to her.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CAPOZIELLO:  That

          9  is true.  But I'm just saying my broader point is

         10  that when you develop these you look at the process

         11  you're using, who you are likely to reach, and you

         12  may want to target your message to that population.

         13  So one size fits all has a certain facility to it,

         14  but it may not be the most appropriate way to go.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  But in

         16  discussions that we have had with those of

         17  Legislative Affairs, they indicated actually that

         18  this type of everything in one pamphlet was actually

         19  being developed, which may be, which actually my

         20  Counsel just reminded me, so I assume then, is that

         21  true?

         22                 MS. HACKER:  Our office is developing

         23  a pamphlet to cover Medicaid, Child Health Plus and

         24  Family Health Plus, not HHC Plus or, I believe,

         25  Medicare is mentioned in here.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Okay.  So there

          3  is some thinking within the Administration that

          4  having a lot of these in one pamphlet makes sense.

          5                 MS. HACKER:  To have it available as

          6  one tool, yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Okay.  The

          8  Mayor's Office of Health Insurance Access that is an

          9  office that has a life span of what?

         10                 MS. HACKER:  Has had a life span of?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  No, it will

         12  continue till when, until the last uninsured person

         13  is insured or what?

         14                 MS. HACKER:  There is no end date

         15  that I'm aware of.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  So many of the

         17  outreach, I mean all of the outreach that you listed

         18  is terrific, you know, you can always do more, but

         19  it is terrific.  But if the health, if your office

         20  was to disappear tomorrow, it would be fair to say

         21  that the coordination of these efforts, of many of

         22  these efforts would then go with your office.

         23                 MS. HACKER:  It could be taken up,

         24  perhaps, somewhere else.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  But there is no
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          2  guarantee of that.

          3                 MS. HACKER:  There is no guarantee.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Okay.  We have

          5  been joined by Council Member Gale Brewer from the

          6  Upper West Side, and also by Council Member Miguel

          7  Martinez from Washington Heights and there are other

          8  neighborhoods in your district, I'm sure, that I'm

          9  forgetting.

         10                 Council Member Moskowitz.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  Thank you,

         12  Madam Chair. I just want to make a comment and then

         13  ask a question.  I had a very, very good experience

         14  working with Anne Heller and the work that she did,

         15  and it sounds like you're continuing and even a

         16  grander scheme, and I think that was a very, very

         17  important effort. I do want to, so I want to

         18  compliment you for the work that you do, but I just

         19  want to point out, for instance, on the schools, 10

         20  schools received the award of $50,000 for their

         21  seller enrollment. There are 1,100 schools in the

         22  system, so before we get too, you know, excited,

         23  there is clearly a lot of work to be done.  But the

         24  process has been started and it has been started, I

         25  think, in a very intelligent way to coordinate the
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          2  Food Stamp idea.  You know, we should have been

          3  doing this long ago, but thank goodness we have

          4  started to kind of do it in a sensible way, and I

          5  think that is a step in the right direction.

          6                 The objections that both of you have

          7  to the bill seem to fall into three categories:

          8                 There is the concern about

          9  regulations and rules.

         10                 There is a concern about costs.

         11                 And there is a concern about

         12  duplication of efforts.

         13                 With regard to rules and regulations,

         14  I mean, it is just important, it seems, to state for

         15  the record that that is what we do.  We're a

         16  legislative body, so we do rules, we impose laws and

         17  regulations.  We hopefully do it in a way that is

         18  sensitive to efficiency and sensitive to

         19  flexibility, as the Chair says.  And it seems to me

         20  that is not, does not box you in, there is specific

         21  language in the law that allows for judgement and so

         22  forth.

         23                 But if you could respond to my three

         24  kind of come backs, if it were, if you will.  With

         25  regard to costs, forgive me for having been in
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          2  politics, but we produce a lot of pamphlets in

          3  politics and they're pretty cheap.  If you envision

          4  a palm card like pamphlet and you're distributing it

          5  at government agencies, I do not know, what are we

          6  talking about, ten grand, maybe.  And if you got a

          7  pamphlet already, maybe we're talking about twenty

          8  grand a year, that seems like a relatively modest

          9  cost in the scheme of things, if it produces even

         10  modest benefit.  If you have a different

         11  understanding of the costs, I think it would be

         12  helpful, because we are very cost conscious here,

         13  particularly as you said, in this time of fiscal

         14  crisis.

         15                 In terms of duplication of efforts,

         16  you know, my response to that is advertising is

         17  based on the productivity of duplication of efforts,

         18  that is kind of the underlying concept that you need

         19  to hit people multiple times and constantly in order

         20  to sell the product.  And it seems to me that while

         21  there is a certain inefficiency in the duplication,

         22  that is how advertising works and that there is

         23  going to be some level of productivity even if there

         24  is duplication of efforts.

         25                 If you could respond one or to the
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          2  three objections and my comebacks, that would be

          3  really helpful?

          4                 MS. HACKER:  Yes, as a joke, holding

          5  onto three things all at once.  Maybe I could start

          6  with the costs, because I know, I have to look at

          7  Legislative Affairs, but I do think, I did not do

          8  it, but that we have a separate cost estimate.  I do

          9  not know if it is appropriate to offer that, we do

         10  not have one available yet.  No, I guess we do not

         11  have a separate process.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Just for the

         13  record, we met yesterday, myself and Legislative

         14  Affairs, and the Office of Management Budget is

         15  working on a cost estimate as is our Finance

         16  Division, neither our Finance Division or OMB was

         17  able to have that ready for today, so we cannot

         18  speak in specifics.

         19                 MS. HACKER:  They will be

         20  forthcoming.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CAPOZIELLO:  What

         22  I can say, though, in response is that what you

         23  mentioned is the printing of the actual pamphlets,

         24  that is correct, a relatively minor cost, but that

         25  is also only the tip of the iceberg in terms of then
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          2  handling all that material, the potential for

          3  increasing postage costs. When we initiated the

          4  birth certificate process, we were very careful, we

          5  actually took out other material to keep the weight

          6  under certain limitations so that we did not get

          7  kicked up into the next postage classification,

          8  which could have a major cost impact. But you're

          9  right, the printing of the actual pamphlets, I know

         10  for ours, it cost us approximately $600 for every

         11  10,000 copies.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  That

         13  objection really cannot have any level of

         14  specificity until we know exactly - -

         15                 MS. HACKER:  What we're talking

         16  about.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: - -  what

         18  we're talking about.

         19                 MS. HACKER:  Right.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  Which I

         21  assume, from the Chair, we will know soon.

         22                 MS. HACKER:  I guess in terms of the

         23  point on rules and regulations, our concern is, you

         24  know, HealthStat, I think one of the successes or

         25  one of the reasons HealthStat has been successful,
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          2  in my view, is that we have really learned and

          3  changed has we have gone along.  HealthStat, today,

          4  is nothing like it was when it started, because what

          5  we did when we started we feel was not as effective

          6  as it needed to be.  And in particular, we did a lot

          7  of work with referring families to enrollers, and

          8  then we tried to do a lot of follow- up to find out

          9  how many of those got enrolled, and we found we lost

         10  a lot of people that we, you know, we thought this

         11  was a great idea, and we still do use it as a tool,

         12  but when we tried to get back in contact with

         13  families after we had first found them, we had a

         14  real difficulty with that.  The phone numbers were

         15  bad, we could not get them, we had a real hard time

         16  making that connection again, which is why we went

         17  to a direct enrollment strategy.  We said once we

         18  had that family in hand, you know, not letting go of

         19  them until they're enrolled, if at all possible.

         20                 So it's those, that is kind of, as we

         21  have learned and grown, as you mentioned, just we

         22  found out how difficult this whole process is.  And

         23  so to me the problem with putting things, you know,

         24  down in rules is the point Jim made, is, it's very

         25  then difficult to change and move forward and
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          2  evolve, and that is, I think, what we need to keep

          3  doing.  We want to keep moving in new, more

          4  strategic directions.  And while outreach is a very

          5  important component, we feel the City is doing

          6  really an excellent job on that and that we do not

          7  require legislation to continue that effort.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Can I just, a lot

          9  of that, that excellent job that is being done is

         10  being coordinated by your office, correct?

         11                 MS. HACKER:  Correct.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  But if your

         13  office ceases to exist, we do not know whether that

         14  would continue.

         15                 MS. HACKER:  We would have to

         16  speculate.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Which is one - -

         18                 MS. HACKER:  Certainly one of the

         19  things that our office works on is trying to ingrain

         20  this within the agencies operations as much as

         21  possible so that it does not require our office, but

         22   - -

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  But it is, as

         24  Council Member Moskowitz says, sometimes it is

         25  better to ingrain,  or indicated it is better to
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          2  ingrain in law.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  Thank you.

          4    And what about the duplication of efforts I was

          5  espousing my theory of advertising?

          6                 MS. HACKER:  Yes, we have the same

          7  theory.  We definitely agree that we want to reach

          8  families multiple times, that you never know when

          9  you're going to hit them at the moment they're ready

         10  to take action.  And so we certainly, part of our

         11  strategy, frankly, is to have the same, you know,

         12  different City agencies could approach the same

         13  family and not worry about it.  We would hate to be

         14  locked into duplication though, if some mailing

         15  appears to be going to the same group of people 20

         16  times, and it seems like 10 times is enough, you

         17  know, it just seems we're locked into a certain

         18  schedule of mailings potentially, almost a forced

         19  duplication rather than one that we could use our

         20  judgement on when we think it makes sense and when

         21  it does not.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  Thank you,

         23  Madam Chair.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Just quickly,

         25  what distribution of this information does the Taxi
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          2  and Limousine Commission do?

          3                 MS. HACKER:  We have worked, I know

          4  they have done mailings to the drivers through the

          5  Housing Preservation and Development Corporation has

          6  worked with the Taxi and Limousine Commission, and

          7  they're working on a strategy where they have done

          8  mailings and they're working with health plans to

          9  invite them to enrollment events.  So I'm not sure

         10  if a mailing has been to every driver yet.  It has

         11  been kind of done in clumps as we can arrange

         12  enrollment events in different boroughs.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  So it sounds like

         14  every time a driver would go down to the TLC to

         15  renew his or her license, if he or she got a ticket,

         16  or you know had a fine or something, they're not

         17  getting given information.  And I singled out that

         18  universe because it is largely a universe of

         19  uninsured workers.

         20                 MS. HACKER:  Yes, I'm not sure, but

         21  I'm not aware that they would.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Which I think is

         23  a missed opportunity that this piece of legislation

         24  would capture.

         25                 Minority Leader Oddo has a few
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          2  questions.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Thank you,

          4  Madam Chair.  I would just like to follow- up on a

          5  few points made by Council Member Moskowitz.  With

          6  respect to the cost of such a bill, is there a way

          7  of quantifying or assessing the savings we would get

          8  by having folks avoid the emergency room?  I mean,

          9  has anyone, when you're factoring the cost of this

         10  legislation, obviously you factor the cost of the

         11  paper and the printing, but on the other side of the

         12  ledger there has to be, there is a savings that

         13  obviously we would derive.  But, I mean, the whole

         14  genesis of primary care and its various incarnations

         15  here in New York City was that we save money by

         16  getting people care early on in their illness, if

         17  you will, or preventing illness, and we recoup a

         18  savings by not having people use the emergency rooms

         19  as their primary physicians.  Is there a way that we

         20  can assess a value of how much money we save by

         21  having folks access medical facilities early on?

         22                 MS. HACKER:  We certainly agree that

         23  it is a financial benefit to the City as well as

         24  just because it is the right thing to do to get

         25  people insured.  But first in the mailing you would
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          2  have to make some assumptions to how many people got

          3  enrolled because of the mailing, which is, as far as

          4  I know, we have not figured a way to do that with

          5  our mailing, so that would be a starting point.

          6  There certainly are studies about greater use of

          7  primary care versus emergency room, but I think it's

          8  a shot in the dark, honestly.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Can we

         10  stipulate for the record then that this bill

         11  actually would not cost us anything, and in fact,

         12  would probably save us a whole lot of money?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  I think you can,

         14  and I would, I think I speak for Council Member

         15  Moskowitz, as well.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  That is one.

         17  And two is about the rules and the regulations, and

         18  specifically, to the line, the text that the Chair

         19  referred to, adopt rules and regulations, et cetera,

         20  will all my law professors out there forgive my sort

         21  of fast and loose interpretation of the exact

         22  language, but to me, I take that means that is a

         23  signal to you, do whatever you have to do to make

         24  this bill work.  I do not think that necessarily

         25  means that we're imposing specific regulations on
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          2  you or asking you, we're saying, whatever you need

          3  to do to facilitate this legislation do. And again,

          4  that may be, with all due respect, to the learned

          5  Counsel, that is my loose interpretation of it, and

          6  that is just for the record.

          7                 The last thing is, Council Member

          8  Moskowitz sort of gave us some context with respect

          9  to the specific school incentive program, about 10

         10  schools that had the maximum award, but there are

         11  1,100 schools out there.  You gave some great

         12  testimony about specific things that you folks are

         13  doing.  Is there anyway of, I mean, without throwing

         14  a soft ball at you and without anticipating that you

         15  folks are going to say that you're doing a crappy

         16  job, I mean, tell us, has this been a, do you

         17  consider this a success to date? Is there a way of

         18  measuring that, well, we really have had, the last

         19  six months have been really good, or the last year

         20  has been really good, we're doing a better job, is

         21  there anyway that you could, you now, tell us,

         22  assess for us the kind of jobs and how the success

         23  of what you're doing so far?

         24                 MS. HACKER:  We absolutely do

         25  consider it a success. You know, we can count
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          2  230,000 individuals that have been enrolled, you

          3  know, as the results of our efforts that we know of,

          4  and we do think there are more, you know, we cannot

          5  directly credit ourselves, but we have had an

          6  influence on.  The school incentive program is, in a

          7  way, a good example.  It's a microcosm, because well

          8  10 won the maximum amount, 43 schools won, I believe

          9  a third of the elementary schools are actively

         10  involved with enroller partners.  We have received

         11  enrollment information from at least half of the

         12  elementary schools.  So we do feel we built, we were

         13  able to build momentum.  The school incentive

         14  program, frankly, kind of at the end, was really

         15  taking off.  I mean, it takes a while, as I'm sure

         16  you all know, you better than I, to kind of

         17  penetrate the public schools, they're so vast and

         18  there are so many visuals involved, the school

         19  incentive program was a great tool to kind of get

         20  their attention and get them working.  And even

         21  though the program ended in December, we have

         22  ongoing work with the schools that is really taking

         23  off.

         24                 So we think it is an excellent

         25  process, but we agree with everything you have said
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          2  in terms that there is a lot more work to do, and no

          3  way would we say, we're done or perhaps would ever

          4  be done.  We think we need to do, to simplify the

          5  programs, make them easier for people to enroll in,

          6  do more outreach.  The Taxi and Limousine Commission

          7  is a good example.

          8                 We certainly do not doubt that we

          9  have missed places we should be and always welcome

         10  suggestions as to other places to do outreach or

         11  enrollment.  Again, we would love to partner with

         12  member of the Council, we know you have wonderful

         13  relationships with the community that we could work

         14  together on and capitalize on.  So it's certainly an

         15  ongoing process.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Madam Chair,

         17  one last point? Just on that point, staff tells us

         18  that there are a million folks out there who are not

         19  insured.  Is there a number in your mind of how many

         20  of those you think you can get to?  Or in a

         21  different way of asking the question, is there a

         22  number in your mind of folks that you think that you

         23  cannot get to?  I mean, can you get to all one

         24  million, is that unrealistic, can you get to half of

         25  that amount, can you get to a quarter of that
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          2  amount?

          3                 MS. HACKER:  We always set the goal

          4  that all eligible New Yorkers would be enrolled.  I

          5  think we always figured at any point in time that we

          6  would be missing some, and particularly, because the

          7  indigent is actually quite a fluctuating, it's not

          8  the same 900,000 people, which is the number we

          9  have, all the time, people come in and out of

         10  eligibility.  They get a job, they lose a job, they

         11  change jobs.  So it's kind of not the same 900,000

         12  at all points in times.  So, you know, I do not

         13  honestly know what a realistic goal is.  At this

         14  point, clearly a lot to go after, and a whole lot of

         15  newly eligible people for Family Health Plus.  So we

         16  certainly intend to go after every single person,

         17  and do everything we can to enroll them all.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  All right,

         19  thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  How many

         21  pamphlets do you know, do you know how many

         22  pamphlets have been printed, to date, by the City

         23  regarding these health insurance programs?

         24                 MS. HACKER:  I do not have that

         25  number.  And we do not just use one thing.  For
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          2  instance, some things we did not even mention, we

          3  did a back- to- school campaign where we handed out

          4  calendars for parents to put up on their

          5  refrigerators with the health insurance information.

          6    We estimated we handed out 700,000 of those.  At

          7  some point we estimated four million, between

          8  letters, pamphlets, palm cards had gone out.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Four million?

         10                 MS. HACKER:  It's hard to keep track

         11  of, but it is probably at least that number.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  I mean if you

         13  could try to get for the Committee an estimate of

         14  how much printing there is already done, I think

         15  that would be useful as we tried to estimate the

         16  printing costs?

         17                 MS. HACKER:  Okay.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  And just, so you

         19  know, which I should have said at the beginning, in

         20  the Health Committee we have this little chart we

         21  keep of what member requested something and what

         22  they requested.  So your agencies and office will

         23  get this after the hearing, not today, but in a

         24  couple of days.

         25                 MS. HACKER:  Okay, got it.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  But you could

          3  write it down if you want.  And I have copies from

          4  the Dental Clinic hearing, if anyone would like

          5  them.

          6                 Council Member Sears.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Thank you very

          8  much.  I want to commend you for holding this

          9  hearing, and for Councilwoman Moskowitz, for

         10  initiating such a very vital thing.

         11                 My comments are not to diminish the

         12  efforts and the importance of your work.  I think

         13  this bill, and rightfully so, is looking at the

         14  weaknesses, and I think I would like to address just

         15  a couple of those weaknesses.  In one of the school-

         16  based programs in my district, there are about 800

         17  that are enrolled in it. Between six and seven

         18  hundred are not insured, a good many of them are

         19  eligible for Health Plus.  And what I really found

         20  with your brochures and one of the reasons for the

         21  focus of this, is that, they do not address the fear

         22  that parents have in enrolling in anything that is a

         23  government, that is number one.

         24                 They are not, a good many are working

         25  families, by the way.  In my other life, my
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          2  secretaries, who earn decent salaries, had their

          3  children enrolled in Health Plus, because they could

          4  not afford to carry family coverage of what was

          5  being addressed here.  So I think one of the issues,

          6  even though you may have a sliding scale, is that,

          7  it addresses not those that are impoverished, but

          8  working families as well, which sets aside some of

          9  the fears that they may have that they have to be

         10  really not earning an income and really be in the

         11  state of poverty in order to avail themselves of

         12  these programs, which many do not choose to really

         13  acknowledge that fact.

         14                 So I think that, and I'm pleased that

         15  you're going to work with the Chair and Councilwoman

         16  Moskowitz, because I do think that some of things

         17  need to be addressed, clarified and very specific in

         18  addressing those particular needs.

         19                 You're concerned about duplication of

         20  effort.  One of the things that avoids that, I know

         21  it is very difficult to do, is to have interagency

         22  meetings with those very agencies who put out the

         23  same or similar information that you do.  One of the

         24  areas is that one hand does not know what the other

         25  is doing.   So being cost contained and having this
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          2  literature come out, an interagency meeting of those

          3  would be very helpful.

          4                 And as a formal, person who has run a

          5  hospital, I do not think there can be enough

          6  duplication when it means that we are reaching many,

          7  many families who need health care, because in my

          8  experience, the duplication is so minimal, as the

          9  results of that effort, that it is really hardly

         10  worth putting into a cost effective thought.

         11                 I just wanted to make those points.

         12                 MS. HACKER:  Just to address your

         13  plan, interagency, we do actually have HealthStat

         14  meetings weekly with all of the agencies attending

         15  so that we can, with the idea being to, one, we set

         16  monthly targets for each agency on enrollment and

         17  you know we want to look at their results.  But also

         18  it is an interagency kind of learning.  You know,

         19  they usually talk about what they have done, what

         20  has worked, what has not worked, in hopes of

         21  learning from each other, and we all need to kind of

         22  figure out together how to make this work.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Well, perhaps

         24  with our Chair and Councilwoman, they might be very

         25  effective in those interagency meetings and address
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          2  them and work with them.  I would suggest that you

          3  do that, because that is basically what you're

          4  really getting at is to have more efficiency, to

          5  reach more people, and to basically have this health

          6  care provided to those who really need it, and we

          7  have a lot.

          8                 And I would agree with the

          9  Councilwoman, 10 schools, I have more than that in

         10  my district, so you know, reaching 10 schools to get

         11  awards, there is a gap somewhere and a big gap.  And

         12  that gap is communication, so the only way to reach

         13  anybody in health care is through communication.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Sure, thank you.

         16  If we could also get a list of what those 10

         17  schools?

         18                 MS. HACKER:  Sure.  Just for the 10,

         19  or that won $50,000, there were 43 winners of

         20  incentive awards?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  And if we could

         22  get a list of the other 43?  And if we could also

         23  get copies of the pamphlets that are presently being

         24  used by both your office and the Department of

         25  Health?
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          2                 Council Member Brewer.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Thank you

          4  very much.  The reason I'm here, I think, because

          5  I'm actually working with six CUNY students who are

          6  restaurant workers, not in Local 6 or Local 100, and

          7  like the taxi drivers, mentioned by Council Member

          8  Quinn, they're examples of people without insurance.

          9    I do not see CUNY listed here as an agency, but I

         10  can tell you that CUNY's insurance is about over

         11  $200 a month, if you're a student.  And most of the

         12  students cannot afford that, most of them work part-

         13  time.  And so what I do, is I try to figure out

         14  where they can go apply for Medicaid or Family

         15  Health Plus, they are obviously not Child Health

         16  Plus, these happen to be individuals, they are

         17  older, returning students, without children, in this

         18  case.  And the problem is that they are actually off

         19  the books and on the books in the restaurant world,

         20  and so their income is not eligible for Medicaid.

         21  It's a problem.

         22                 So what I'm saying is that this is an

         23  example of another group, they had not idea that

         24  there was a Family Health Plus, they had never

         25  applied for Medicaid, so it was not something they
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          2  were used to doing, et cetera.  So, and one of them

          3  just got sick, so that is a group that is absolutely

          4  unavailable to the media, perhaps or the pamphlet

          5  world, because they do not normally go into agencies

          6  except school and the restaurant.  So I know that

          7  the pamphlet would make sense.

          8                 Both Council Member Clarke and I just

          9  attended an excellent conference at, I thought, at

         10  New York University on the issue of Health Care,

         11  many opportunities.  Your Commissioner was there,

         12  and also Dr. Chu from HHC.  And it was an eye-

         13  opener for me, because I think I know a lot about

         14  many topics, but this is not one of them.  And what

         15  was interesting to me was the programs were listed.

         16  And then a couple of days later we went to the

         17  Citizen Action Press Conference, and at that time,

         18  Assembly Member Gottfried indicated that he, for

         19  instance, is going to be rethinking these small

         20  business health care opportunities, because only

         21  5,000 people on the State level, I think, have

         22  applied.  And he wants to fold all of it into Family

         23  Health or Child Health Plus.

         24                 So I think it is a shifting game in

         25  terms of what the opportunities are.  So the
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          2  questions is, how do we communicate this to people?

          3  Obviously, just to get them on the three programs

          4  that you list are helpful, there is also the ads on

          5  the television with the Governor, I think,

          6  mentioning one program, if I'm correct. But there

          7  are other programs.  So it is very confusing to us,

          8  at least to me, and to the public.

          9                 Your Commissioner mentioned, the

         10  Department of Health Commissioner, that he is going

         11  to work with the smoking cessation private sector in

         12  order to talk about no smoking, which I thought was

         13  a great idea.  I just did not know in this context

         14  if there are other partners to help alleviate that.

         15                 I also want to mention that the best

         16  pamphlet I have ever seen in my life was called,

         17   "Young People in New York City Have Rights and

         18  Responsibilities," and it is this size.  I have been

         19  walking around with it for 14 years.  And actually,

         20  so I will just throw it out as the best, it's

         21  legible, it lists everything, it was made during the

         22  Dinkins' Administration, I'm a little bias, but I

         23  just believe that the quality of it is everything

         24  that young people could ever want.  And you will not

         25  believe how many young people are still walking
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          2  around with this little pamphlet.  So it's an

          3  example, that is why I look forward, Council Member

          4  Quinn, to see what is available.

          5                 Thank you very much.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Thank you.  One

          7  of the other things that this bill addresses in

          8  addition to agencies and missed opportunities, if

          9  you will, is community- based organizations who are

         10  engaged in, you know, contracts, which we define by

         11  the small purchase limit.  That given the recent

         12  Charter change, which, you know, as it relates to

         13  the Department of Mental Health and the Department

         14  of Health, where the Department of Health is being,

         15  Mental Health is being merged, et cetera, I'm

         16  particularly concerned about whether or not there is

         17  any present, I guess, I'm concerned that we're not

         18  getting this information out to community based

         19  organizations who have a lot of interaction.  Most,

         20  it's a lot of the work that is done through the

         21  Department of Health around Mental Health, for

         22  example, is done through contracting out, that is

         23  true in other areas.  The information that the City

         24  presently has on these health programs, these

         25  insurance programs, are those pamphlets given to
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          2  those CBOs to give out?

          3                 I single out Mental Health because

          4  that is an area where certainly people, you know,

          5  are in need of insurance, there are other examples

          6  too, Domestic Violence, you know, survivors for

          7  those men or women to have you know information

          8  about insurance would certainly be something to help

          9  in their process of getting out of the situation.

         10  So what presently is that, presently what do we do?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CAPOZIELLO:  In

         12  relation to those pamphlets per se, I do not believe

         13  that we have done anything about giving it directly

         14  to community- based organizations for distribution,

         15  not that we could not.  But we recognize that that

         16  is, in many ways, still an untapped resource, even

         17  with regard, even though there have been a number of

         18  efforts, not just by us, but also the State

         19  Department of Health, in implementing the Child

         20  Health Plus program contracted with 10 major not-

         21  for- profit organizations who then were to work with

         22  networks of community based organizations, both with

         23  regard to publicizing that.  And I believe, that was

         24  expanded to include Family Health Plus as well.    Maximus

         25  has been funded to do community outreach around
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          2  Medicaid Managed Care and to work with community-

          3  based organizations.  However, admittedly not, you

          4  know, enough of that has been done.

          5                 In the past, there has been a fine

          6  program within Managed Care Consumers' Assistance

          7  program, which was funded as a Council Initiative.

          8  Unfortunately, what may or may not occur to that in

          9  the future with regard to the City's, you know,

         10  current budget situation, I think remains to be

         11  seen.  But that is another program that focused

         12  mainly on working through community- based

         13  organizations.

         14                 And as I mentioned in my testimony,

         15  we are now beginning an initiative to reach out,

         16  particularly, to the faith based community in order

         17  to achieve some of those same ends.  And in part to

         18  address, the point that Councilwoman Sears raised,

         19  which was an excellent one, of needing a certain

         20  level of credibility with the clientele out in the

         21  community so as to be able to overcome fears that

         22  they may have in dealing with the government.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  So I think that

         24  probably the most significant part of your answer to

         25  that question was that it is an untapped resource,
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          2  and maybe this legislation, as we all move forward,

          3  will be a perfect way to start tapping it.

          4                 Just for people's information, people

          5  may be coming in and out, there is also a Government

          6  Operations hearing going on in the room next door,

          7  regarding former Mayor Giuliani's papers and

          8  archiving.

          9                 MS. HACKER:  If I could just comment

         10  on that?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Certainly.

         12                 MS. HACKER:  On the outreach to

         13  community- based organizations.  Undoubtedly, there

         14  is much more we can do there, and need to do, and

         15  should do.  We had, a number of the agencies had,

         16  though, done a lot of work with the CBOs they

         17  contract with. I know the Department of Employment

         18  does a lot of work with them and have gotten a lot

         19  of referrals from those agencies.  DYCD does a lot

         20  of work with them, in fact, has contracted with, I

         21  believe, it's ten, it might be eleven of them, to

         22  have a full- time coordinator to actually coordinate

         23  enrollment events in their communities and work very

         24  directly with HealthStat.  And at one point, - -

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  If you could, I'm
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          2  sorry, provide us with where that is happening and

          3  any information about what the work of those

          4  coordinators, what events they have done, et cetera,

          5  et cetera?

          6                 MS. HACKER:  Okay, certainly.  And we

          7  did do a mailing, I believe, to 10,000 CBOs as part,

          8  in partnership with the Children's Defense Fund, as

          9  we started picking up HealthStat, sending them some

         10  brochures and posters, and inviting them to request

         11  more from our office.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  If you could also

         13  provide us with where you and the Children's Defense

         14  Fund, the universe, what went out, et cetera?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CAPOZIELLO:  And

         16  we have, I just wanted to add - -

         17                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  And also, - -

         18  I'm sorry, go ahead.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CAPOZIELLO: - -

         20  and we have, though, in the Health Department

         21  distributed or provided our Citywide Provider

         22  Directories, actually they're by boroughs, to any

         23  community- based organization that has requested

         24  them.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  But they would
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          2  have to know that they existed.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CAPOZIELLO:

          4  Well, that is, they have been publicized through the

          5  HealthStat program as to their existence, and in

          6  fact, I believe a demonstration and samples were

          7  used at HealthStat meetings at which some community-

          8  based organizations appeared.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Which then

         10  probably goes to the concern that was raised

         11  earlier, which is if HealthStat, the Office of, you

         12  know, Health Insurance Access ceased to exist that

         13  kind of circular outreach process might not occur.

         14  So I think raising the need for this legislation.

         15                 If you could also provide for us the

         16  list of the faith- based organizations that you're

         17  reaching out to?  A more personal note, I would be

         18  interested to see whether you have done any outreach

         19  to the religious organizations that target the

         20  lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender community.  I

         21  do not know if you know, just a little personal

         22  aside, or off the top of your head, if they're in

         23  there, the Metropolitan Community Church, Community

         24  Fellowship, Beth Simchat Torah?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CAPOZIELLO:  I do
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          2  not remember.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Okay.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CAPOZIELLO:  But

          5  certainly, anyone that is not listed on there that

          6  should have been listed, we have no problem in

          7  reaching out to them.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Thank you.

          9  Council Member Martinez.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Thank you,

         11  Madam Chair. The material that you distributed, do

         12  you have number in terms of how much goes out in the

         13  different languages, Spanish, Chinese and so forth?

         14  One of the biggest issues in the immigrant community

         15  as Councilwoman Sears mentioned, it's the immigrant

         16  dealing with government and the fear that is there

         17  in terms of documented or undocumented immigrant, I

         18  think the fear is equal among both groups.

         19                 And also, the CBO factor, in many of

         20  these communities, CBOs played a major role in the

         21  life of many immigrant groups, and the fact that

         22  there is not a clear effort from the agency to work

         23  directly with the CBOs.  It's something that worries

         24  me, knowing that, for example, there is that effort

         25  from the State, for example, I know in my community
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          2  several of our CBOs are working with the State

          3  agency through the Family Health Plus and the Child

          4  Health Plus to get out there.  But I think that we,

          5  the City of New York, I think we have a bigger

          6  responsibility to make sure that that happens in

          7  these communities.  So looking, see what are the

          8  numbers there, how equitable it is in terms of the

          9  outreach that you're doing in the different

         10  communities, and the language that the materials are

         11  being distributed, I think, is key and important

         12  also.

         13                 MS. HACKER:  Okay, we will certainly

         14  provide you with more numbers.  Virtually, all of

         15  our communications are in English and Spanish, kind

         16  of our standard is English on one side, Spanish on

         17  the other side.  We do want to expand to include at

         18  a minimum Chinese Mandarin, Haitian Creole, and

         19  Russian.  We have been waiting, frankly, to get our

         20  pre- screening phone line translating those

         21  languages, and to make sure we have operators that

         22  speak those languages so that we're not handing out

         23  materials with a phone number, kind of with the

         24  implication that you could call and speak Chinese,

         25  and to have no one there to help you.
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          2                 We got delayed in that with September

          3  11th, we were about ready to go.  We now understand

          4  the phone line is almost ready to go again, the

          5  translation almost ready, so as soon as the phone

          6  line is ready to accept those languages, we will

          7  also do communications in those additional three

          8  languages.  But virtually everything we do starts

          9  with English and Spanish, always.

         10                 We're certainly aware of that, you

         11  know, I do not know the exact number of the 900,000

         12  that are immigrants, but a very large percentage,

         13  you know, it is a much higher rate of uninsured in

         14  immigrant communities.  The agencies, you know, love

         15  to find immigrant communities because they have

         16  monthly targets to enroll and we all know we have

         17  the best success often in communities that have a

         18  large immigrant population.  So we really work hard

         19  at addressing that.

         20                 The Department of Corrections

         21  actually has what they call a satellite office in

         22  Chinatown where they work with one of the enrollers,

         23  and they have enrollers there every week, and they

         24  have done a lot of enrollment in that community.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  May I,
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          2  Madam Chair?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Certainly.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  You

          5  mentioned that you have some, are they field

          6  coordinators, the one that you mentioned previously?

          7                 MS. HACKER:  With the Department of

          8  Youth, DYCD?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Yes.

         10                 MS. HACKER:  Yes, well they have

         11  worked with, this varies in numbers, it is roughly

         12  10 of the CBOs they work with, they contract with

         13  them separately to have something they called, NDA,

         14  Neighborhood Development Association, something like

         15  that, that works specifically in 10 of the

         16  communities that those CBOs are particularly strong

         17  in, and they look for opportunities to organize

         18  enrollment events.  They do something they call

         19  street marketing, something that they just set up

         20  outside of a subway stop or some place they know

         21  there is a lot of people and enroll individuals kind

         22  of on the street.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Can I just

         24  also suggest that you look into the possibility of

         25  reaching out, especially in communities of color
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          2  where there is a shortage, a lack of child care

          3  services?  Where we see a tremendous growth of home-

          4  base child care network in these communities, where

          5  we have direct access to parents that may not have

          6  health insurance for their children, and including

          7  these networks of home- base child care as a formula

          8  to reaching out to these families?

          9                 MS. HACKER:  Yes, maybe we can work

         10  with you.  We would love to do that, there are a lot

         11  of them so it is a little difficult, but we agree

         12  that is an excellent opportunity.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  This is not part

         14  of the legislation, but kind of following up on what

         15  Council Member Martinez was saying, does the Mayor's

         16  Office of Health Insurance Access have a Community

         17  Advisory Board?

         18                 MS. HACKER:  No, we do not.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Because that

         20  might be something for us to discuss after the

         21  hearing.  I mean that might be useful to create so

         22  that your outreach work, not necessarily in the

         23  context of this bill, but beyond that, would have

         24  input from different communities.

         25                 MS. HACKER:  Surely we will discuss
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          2  that.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  So I would like

          4  to discuss that afterwards, I would think.

          5                 And Council Member Martinez, just,

          6  you know, the "A" version of the bill does address

          7  the issue of language and expanding the number of

          8  languages that would be used.

          9                 Council Member Clarke.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  Thank you,

         11  Madam Chair.  My colleague, Council Member Martinez

         12  kind of hit on some of the points that I, too,

         13  wanted to raise, the concern about immigrant

         14  communities and the sort of trepidation about

         15  dealing with government.  And just in reading, I

         16  believe, Ms. Hacker's, it's your testimony, I would

         17  like to ask that you not talk about possibly putting

         18  these materials in these other languages, but that,

         19  you know, you really move with all deliberate speed

         20  to do so. We have a very large uninsured population

         21  that really just cannot understand the information

         22  that is being presented to them, and I think it is

         23  really critical considering the health care needs in

         24  immigrant communities on a whole that they be aware

         25  that these services available to them.
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          2                 I also wanted to talk about the

          3  faith- based organization initiative and workshops.

          4  I noticed that you have 900 as a possible number for

          5  the workshops.  I wanted to get a sense of where

          6  those workshops are taking place, is it citywide, or

          7  are you targeting one area?  Because I know that

          8  there are over 900 faith based organizations in my

          9  district alone that could use this workshop.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CAPOZIELLO:  The

         11  900 organizations are a citywide representative.  As

         12  to physically where the workshops are going to take

         13  place, I do not recall, but I believe the intent is

         14  to have them in different areas of the City so that

         15  organizations that are based whether in Brooklyn or

         16  the Bronx, whatever would have easier access to it.

         17  But, again, we can give you more details about that.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  Will we get

         19  them listed by Borough?

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CAPOZIELLO:

         21  Sure, we could sort them that way.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  That would be

         23  great.  And I think this legislation is, just in

         24  getting your feedback, is not really intended to be

         25  duly harsh to the agencies, but I think it provides
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          2  you with a great opportunity to think outside of the

          3  box. What we're trying to do here is get insurance

          4  to our people that are in desperate need of

          5  insurance, and you know, it is really providing you

          6  with an opportunity to be much more creative in

          7  terms of reaching the community.  I mean, this an

          8  opportunity to work from the bottom up.  They're

          9  community- based organizations, they're faith- based

         10  organizations.

         11                 We, as Council members serve as a

         12  resource as well, because we want to make sure that

         13  the people that reside within our communities are

         14  fully educated and informed and are prepared to

         15  enroll into this program, particularly, given the

         16  health care needs of our communities.

         17                 I was also looking at the whole idea

         18  of recruitment and training for enrollment.  I

         19  understand that you recruit a lot, but where is the

         20  training component in it, and have you thought about

         21  perhaps using community- based organizations as an

         22  enrollment point, as well?

         23                 MS. HACKER:  Well as Jim mentioned,

         24  they're a network of CBOs that actually contracted

         25  with the State to do enrollment, and we work, it's
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          2  in New York City, it's, I think, 10 or 11 lead

          3  agencies and then a number of agencies underneath

          4  that.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  Right.

          6                 MS. HACKER:  We work very actively

          7  with all of those.  We, once a month, have a

          8  HealthStat meeting that includes enrollers and they

          9  are always invited, the lead agencies to that

         10  meeting.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  And are they

         12  coordinated, are they on the web, you know, how do

         13  those folks - -

         14                 MS. HACKER:  All of those CBOs?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  Yes.

         16                 MS. HACKER:  We list them on our web

         17  site as available resources for enrollment.  I do

         18  not know that they all have their own web site, some

         19  do and some do not.  You know the funding levels,

         20  obviously, do not always permit that.

         21                 So we work with those CBOs as much as

         22  we can.  They, quite honestly, sometimes do not have

         23  the resources to provide a lot of enrollers for us.

         24  You know, they're limited in the funding they get

         25  from the State, and the State has requirements of
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          2  them where those enrollers are certain days of the

          3  week.  But we always invite them to enrollment

          4  events and try to maximize opportunities to work

          5  with them.

          6                 I think there is a lot more we could

          7  do with other CBOs.  We, I cannot imagine the number

          8  that there are in New York City, we do our best to

          9  try to find the most fruitful, you know, places to

         10  work with, but it sounds like, you know, we probably

         11  should talk and probably could find other things to

         12  do to be more effective.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  Well I would

         14  like it if we could look at perhaps creating much

         15  more of a comprehensive approach to enrolling folks.

         16    What I'm getting from this is sort of, again, a

         17  top down, narrowly focused way of enrollment.  I

         18  think that the purpose of this legislation, again,

         19  is to broaden the scope and not to be unduly

         20  burdensome, but to create avenues, new avenues and

         21  innovative avenues for getting our folks insured.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 MS. HACKER:  That is certainly our

         24  goal, as well.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CAPOZIELLO:  I
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          2  just wanted to add something briefly to something I

          3  said before, which is when you get the list what you

          4  will see is that in our initial phase we are

          5  targeting Brooklyn, Queens and the Bronx.  I do not

          6  want that to be interpreted as meaning that we are

          7  not also going to be going to New York and Staten

          8  Island.  But the initial listing that was developed

          9  was mainly for those three boroughs.

         10                 (Council Member Quinn not using

         11  microphone.)

         12                 MS. HACKER:  Sure, sure, it would be

         13  helpful to know in advance if they were coming, and

         14  in particularly it might, perhaps, to figure out a

         15  meeting when they would, you know, get the most

         16  benefit from.  But we would certainly be happy for

         17  them to attend.

         18                 (Council Member Quinn not using

         19  microphone.)

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  Yes, thank you.

         21    I was wondering if there is a typical or a profile

         22  of the uninsured New Yorker, is it, well, obviously

         23  we know that they're without substantial income, but

         24  beyond that, is there a profiling breakdown, is it a

         25  single person with children, is there an age
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          2  situation, what do you know about that?

          3                 MS. HACKER:  What we know is, at

          4  least what is estimated, that most of the uninsured

          5  work, contrary to what many people might think.

          6  Two- thirds of the uninsured are in a family with at

          7  least one full- time worker, and three- quarters if

          8  you include part- time workers, as well.  So most of

          9  them are working, about 80 percent of the uninsured

         10  are adults, and about 20 percent of the uninsured

         11  are children.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  All right.

         13                 MS. HACKER:  And, obviously, most of

         14  them are low income, most of them below 200 percent

         15  of the federal poverty level.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  How about

         17  ethnicity, race, that kind of data?

         18                 MS. HACKER:  It is usually looked at

         19  not by the number of uninsured, but it is certainly

         20  higher, a relatively high percent particularly in

         21  the Hispanic are uninsured, I believe a third, a

         22  higher than average percentage of African- American

         23  community, I hate to quoted a percent, I think it's

         24  in the twenties, I do not know the exact number.  So

         25  higher percentages are in those communities are
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          2  uninsured.  I believe almost half of non- citizens

          3  are uninsured, a very high percentage of non-

          4  citizens.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  Could you

          6  further indicate the communities where most of these

          7  people reside?

          8                 MS. HACKER:  We're working on that.

          9  We have tried really hard on that, we actually

         10  produced a map for children where we tried to map

         11  eligible but uninsured children by community

         12  district.  And we produced it, but I have to say

         13  when we tried to use it, it does not appear to be

         14  accurate, because in particular Queens came out with

         15  very low numbers of uninsured but eligible children.

         16    And in fact, every time we walk into Queens with

         17  an enrollment event, you know, we're very

         18  successful.

         19                 So our theory is that we had to,

         20  because it was the best thing we had, we were using

         21  old census data, you know, the 1990s Census data, so

         22  as soon as we get new census data, we're going to

         23  try it again.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  Yes, it would

         25  seem that if an overwhelming percentage of
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          2  unemployed are working poor, did you say 80 percent

          3  that was uninsured?

          4                 MS. HACKER:  Mostly uninsured are

          5  working, right.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  I think you

          7  said 80 percent, but whatever, - -

          8                 MS. HACKER:  Are adults, right.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: - -  and if we

         10  could really track where they, where these people

         11  come from, they may be clustered in certain

         12  communities, which means that our approach to insure

         13  them could really be focused where we get the

         14  greatest return by, you know, really saturating that

         15  area with whatever strategy we come up with.

         16                 MS. HACKER:  Right, we're doing our

         17  best on that. The data on the uninsured is nebulous

         18  at best.  Most of the surveys are done at the State,

         19  you know, the National level or the State level, and

         20  so to get it down to that specific is difficult.

         21  But we are, we are trying.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  I have noticed,

         23  I recall that someone did a study and research to

         24  show that where all of the inmates and state prisons

         25  come from, and they were able to show that there is,
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          2  you know, 10 districts.  So therefore, you could

          3  target your programs there to deal with that

          4  unfortunate statistic. I think there may be a

          5  similar approach here, and you, perhaps, could be

          6  aided with this legislation as opposed to being

          7  hampered.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Thank you, that

         10  is really a troubling statistic, but I think you're

         11  right as it relates to the outreach focus.

         12                 I apologize, I started to, you know,

         13  pretend to be a staff member, which I used to be,

         14  and I started to keep my list, a list of who had

         15  signed up to ask questions, and I incorrectly

         16  crossed off Council Member Stewart, so I apologize

         17  for that.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Thank you,

         19  Madam Chair.

         20                 Good morning.

         21                 MS. HACKER:  Good morning.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  I like to

         23  wake up everybody at this time, so let me speak a

         24  little loud so that you can at least raise your

         25  eyebrows.
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          2                 First of all, do you have any

          3  literature showing clearly the difference between

          4  the Health Care Plus, Medicaid and now Family Health

          5  Plus, do you have any literature showing that?

          6                 MS. HACKER:  That shows the

          7  differences between them?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Yes, between

          9  those.

         10                 MS. HACKER:  We certainly could

         11  produce something for you.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  All right,

         13  and to show which ones are HMOs and what is required

         14  for treatment and access?

         15                 MS. HACKER:  What are the

         16  requirements to enroll?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  For these

         18  different programs.

         19                 MS. HACKER:  For the different

         20  programs?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Yes, they

         22  are different requirements for treatment and access

         23  for some of them, if they're HMO, you need to have a

         24  primary physician, et cetera.

         25                 MS. HACKER:  Right.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  You cannot

          3  just go to the next doctor, you feel like, et

          4  cetera.  Do you have that literature that you're

          5  distributing?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CAPOZIELLO:  Well

          7  Child Health Plus and Family Health Plus are both

          8  managed care models, so that you cannot participate

          9  in those programs except through a Managed Care

         10  Company.

         11                 Medicaid has both a fee for service

         12  component and a managed care component, although

         13  there is a process underway for a mandatory managed

         14  care program that is probably about 60 percent

         15  complete now of bringing a mandatory element to the

         16  largest number of Medicaid recipients.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Right.  I

         18  understand what you're saying, but I'm asking do you

         19  have literature that you put out there so that the

         20  public knows, and information on availability of the

         21  providers for these programs, for these?  Because

         22  having insurance does not mean that you have access

         23  to service.

         24                 MS. HACKER:  In terms of knowing how

         25  to use it.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  We have that

          3  problem widely throughout the City of New York.  We

          4  can have insurance, and yet we still cannot get

          5  service.  And what happens is that you may have an

          6  insurance and you cannot get a doctor in the area,

          7  and what happens, you end up in the hospital,

          8  clogging up the hospital emergency room.

          9                 So we're saying that, is that

         10  information, we want to have that information out

         11  there so that we can see the relationship between

         12  providers and people who are using that service.  If

         13  we can do, that would be great.

         14                 And you will get from my language

         15  that I'm a health provider, I'm a podiatrist, and I

         16  find that a lot of patients come into my office with

         17  these insurances, but I may not be on that panel or

         18  I may not be on that HMO, and so they cannot get the

         19  service in the field.  They may get the service in

         20  the hospital, but the hospital has a waiting list

         21  for five months.  So we have to look and see where

         22  providers, the availability of providers and the

         23  understanding of what type of insurance that we

         24  have.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CAPOZIELLO:
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          2  Right, your point is very well taken, and in fact,

          3  that is why we created a provider directory both in

          4  hard copy and on the Department of Health's web site

          5  that lists all of the providers, what programs they

          6  participate in, through what companies they

          7  participate in.  And the web site, in fact, has a

          8  search function that would allow you to search also

          9  by language spoken and other elements.

         10                 What I, you know, would suggest is

         11  that both with regard to the provider directories

         12  and to other products that we have that detail the

         13  different benefit packages in the three main

         14  programs that we will provide those to the

         15  Committee.  And then if you have suggestions, we

         16  would be more than happy to hear from you.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Thank you.  That

         19  is all the questions we have.  So I think, I just

         20  want to make clear for the record that we will, the

         21  following hearing, we will get various fiscal impact

         22  statements from both our Finance Division and the

         23  Office of Management and Budget.

         24                 And I think, although, there is

         25  concern on the parts of your office and agency, I
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          2  actually think there is more commonality around this

          3  bill, and perhaps, particularly given, I think, some

          4  misinterpretation or misunderstanding of the bill.

          5  So I look forward to having ongoing discussions

          6  through the Office of Legislative Affairs about the

          7  different concerns, and hopefully we will be able to

          8  come with a version of the bill that everybody could

          9  be supportive of, and also, look forward to the

         10  opportunity of the HealthStat meetings and

         11  discussing a Community Advisory Board.

         12                 So thank you very much.  And we're

         13  not going to, --  I do not know if you all have

         14  anything you would like to close with?

         15                 MS. HACKER:  No.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  No, okay, great.

         17   - -  with members of the public who are here.

         18                 We're going to hear first from, I'm

         19  sorry, Kim Calder from New Yorkers for Accessible

         20  Health Coverage, and then following Kim will be Judy

         21  Wessler, the Commission on the Public Health System.

         22                 MS. CALDER:  I would like to defer to

         23  Judy Wessler first, because I'm with someone who

         24  just stepped out for a phone call.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Okay.
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          2                 MS. CALDER:  Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  That works for

          4  me.  Good for you, Judy?  All right, fine.

          5                 MS. WESSLER:  Good morning, still,

          6  right?  Yes, okay.  Just very quickly, we support

          7  the bill as amended, would stress more on the

          8  translation into the many languages that - -

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Just so you know,

         10  the Counsel and I have discussed that, so if you

         11  have any specifics that would be helpful.

         12                 MS. WESSLER:  Okay, I'm sure that we

         13  could talk about it afterwards, right, because as we

         14  have heard from Council people as well, it is really

         15  critical in reaching people in their communities.

         16                 I forgot, I'm supposed to, I'm Judy

         17  Wessler.  I'm the Director of the Commission on the

         18  Public's Health System.  I just make assumptions.

         19                 What I wanted to talk about was, is

         20  two things.  The Commission has had recent

         21  experience in providing training and information for

         22  community organizations.  And we have learned some

         23  lessons from that, that I wanted to share, and that

         24  is really the bulk of my testimony.

         25                 We have trained over 500 community
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          2  organizations on how to help the uninsured, and I

          3  brought, because we're actually out of them, one

          4  manual, which I will provide for the Committee,

          5  which is what we use for this training.  And it is

          6  amazing how much people do not know, and including

          7  community organizations, not just individual - -

          8                 (Council Member Quinn not using

          9  microphone.)

         10                 MS. WESSLER:  I'm sorry?

         11                 (Council Member Quinn not using

         12  microphone.)

         13                 MS. WESSLER:  Right, well, Council

         14  members, you're doing okay, and this was good.  So

         15  the more information you provide, the better, is, I

         16  think, you know, the golden rule.

         17                 In addition, most recently the

         18  Commission, along with five other community

         19  organizations, got funding first from the September

         20  11th Fund and now from the United Hospital Fund, to

         21  work with and provide information for community

         22  organizations on Disaster Relief Medicaid.  And I'm

         23  making an assumption that people know what Disaster

         24  Relief Medicaid is, is that?  Okay, and it was done,

         25  you know, as part of the post- 911, because the
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          2  computers were down, and out of tragedy sometimes

          3  comes brilliance, and this was certainly that case.

          4  Where, because the computers were down, the process

          5  of applying for Disaster Relief Medicaid was totally

          6  simplified, the application was one page, people

          7  were not required the reams and reams and reams of

          8  documentation that they are normally required to

          9  provide.  And not surprisingly, it really worked,

         10  and it really worked well, and it depends on who you

         11  talk to, but somewhere over 300,000 people were

         12  enrolled in Disaster Relief Medicaid in the first,

         13  in the four- month period that people had to apply.

         14     And normally, my understanding is that it would

         15  be 8,000 people a month.  So making the process work

         16  is something that actually encouraged people to

         17  apply.

         18                 We're a little concern now about the

         19  transition period because it is very complicated,

         20  and you have to receive three mailings, and

         21  sometimes people do not receive one mailing, let

         22  alone get the other two, so we're also going back to

         23  community organizations and providing information on

         24  how they can help people transition from Disaster

         25  Relief Medicaid to Family Health Plus and regular
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          2  Medicaid.  And if you're interested, you know, on

          3  more of that, we can provide that information.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Judy, and also if

          5  you have any thoughts on how the Council, either the

          6  Committee or the Council as a whole, perhaps,

          7  through the Speaker's Office could be useful in that

          8  work that you're doing, which is, obviously, very

          9  time sensitive, you know, - -

         10                 MS. WESSLER:  Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: - -  could forward

         12  a memo or suggestions or whatever.

         13                 MS. WESSLER:  That would be great,

         14  and actually there are representatives from two of

         15  the other organizations here who are also doing the

         16  training, so we can sit down.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Maybe we should,

         18  yes, sit down with also the Council's Operations

         19  Division and see how, what we can do about that?

         20                 MS. WESSLER:  That would be great.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  So if we could

         22  just go ahead with that.  Okay.

         23                 MS. WESSLER:  That would really be

         24  helpful because with one missed mailing or not

         25  responding for an appointment time, everything can
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          2  go down the drain for people's, so, and you know, it

          3  was very effective and successful, and we would hate

          4  to have that lost.

          5                 Although, now people have to go back

          6  to the more complicated application and the reams of

          7  documentation, and so that is the bottom line of my

          8  message today.  The bill is great and it should be

          9  passed, and again, with the many languages of

         10  communities, but that without simplifying the

         11  process, both the application, itself, and the

         12  documentation requirements, we're afraid that no

         13  matter how much information that we give to people,

         14  a lot of the application process is just impossible

         15  and we will not be able to enroll people.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Thanks, Judy.

         17  Just any thoughts that you have any point, I mean,

         18  what role legislatively or even oversight that the

         19  Council could play around simplifying the process, a

         20  lot of it is State situation, but if you or the

         21  folks you work with see that there is any opening

         22  that perhaps we could try to latch onto, let us

         23  know.

         24                 MS. WESSLER:  Perhaps a joint hearing

         25  with the General Welfare Committee or some such
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          2  would really be good, and then we could place the

          3  focus on it.  We think that one of the reasons that

          4  the State actually came up with the transition plan

          5  for Disaster Relief Medicaid was because Assemblyman

          6  Gottfried and Grannis held a hearing and really

          7  spot- lighted, you know, that people without some

          8  kind of transition, all these people were going to

          9  totally lose their coverage.  So - -

         10                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  I will talk to

         11  Chairperson DeBlasio about that and I will let you

         12  know.

         13                 MS. WESSLER:  Okay.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Does anybody else

         15  have any questions for Judy?

         16                 Council Member Sears.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Okay.  Has

         18  your Commission looked at the application process

         19  and looked at modifying it yourself?

         20                 MS. WESSLER:  Oh, God, yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  And what have

         22  you done with it once you did that?

         23                 MS. WESSLER:  Well we tried to work

         24  with the State and convince them on this, and have

         25  not been successful so far. They're, which does not
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          2  mean that, you know, we cannot be successful.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Were there

          4  legal questions as to why you were not successful in

          5  terms of the information that they had to extract

          6  from the application process?

          7                 MS. WESSLER:  Actually, the

          8  Commission was part of a process with, it was

          9  primarily done with, by Care for the Homeless and

         10  the Greater Upstate Law Project, where not only were

         11  people interviewed about what the problems were in

         12  the application and documentation requirements, but

         13  also, the Greater Upstate Law Project looked at

         14  federal requirements, compared, and we would be

         15  happy to make copies of the report available,

         16  compared federal requirements and state requirements

         17  both in law and then administratively.  And federal

         18  requirements were about that big, state law was

         19  about that big, and state requirements,

         20  administrative requirements were about that big.  So

         21  there is plenty of room for change.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Well perhaps

         23  you can submit that to the Chair.

         24                 MS. WESSLER:  I could.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Because that
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          2  certainly is, you know, the focus - -

          3                 MS. WESSLER:  Absolutely.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: - -  of our

          5  Chair in directing the Committee.

          6                 MS. WESSLER:  We would be very happy

          7  to.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Good, good.

          9                 MS. WESSLER:  Because we do feel very

         10  strongly that that information piece that you're

         11  doing is critical, but without, I have to say this

         12  again and again, without the simplification process,

         13  we will continue to lose a lot of people.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  I know, I know

         15  that the Department for the Aging, they must have

         16  had about 14 pages at one time and reduced them to

         17  five, and they did not lose any of the necessary

         18  information.

         19                 MS. WESSLER:  Exactly.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  In order to do

         21  that.  So it seems that this could be done.

         22                 MS. WESSLER:  Actually, this was in

         23  the 1990s, I worked for the Children's Defense Fund

         24  New York Office, and we negotiated with the State

         25  for a simplified application.  And at that point in
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          2  time, the application for Child Health Plus, for

          3  Medicaid for Children and for PCAP was one page.  It

          4  was a long page, but it was still one page.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Well our Chair

          6  has very good legal counsel, so I'm sure that she

          7  will be able to look at that quite effectively.

          8                 MS. WESSLER:  Okay.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Thank you.

         10                 MS. WESSLER:  Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Thank you.  We're

         12  now going to hear from Kim Calder from New Yorkers

         13  for Accessible Health Care, and Kim will be followed

         14  by Mary Henwood-Klutz from the American Cancer

         15  Society.

         16                 MS. CALDER:  Good morning, and thank

         17  you, Madam Chairwoman and members of the City

         18  Council.  My name is Kim Calder, and I'm here

         19  representing New Yorkers for Accessible Health

         20  Coverage.  I'm also here with Ms. Alma Rodriguez,

         21  who I will introduce at the end of my comments.

         22                 Known as NYFAHC, we are a coalition

         23  of over 50 New York voluntary health and community

         24  service organizations dedicated to the promotion of

         25  accessible health coverage for New Yorkers who need
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          2  and use health care the most, namely, those with

          3  life threatening, chronic and/or disabling health

          4  conditions.  Our member organizations range from

          5  large, well established groups, like the American

          6  Cancer Society and Multiple Sclerosis Society to the

          7  less known but equally vital East Harlem Lupus

          8  Cooperative, because New Yorkers living with any

          9  health challenge share a common and ongoing need.

         10  For whatever health service, medicine, supply or

         11  piece of machinery that keeps them going and the

         12  means to access it.

         13                 Thank you for publicly recognizing

         14  the need to break down barriers to public health

         15  coverage, that could and should be ensuring access

         16  to health services for so many more of the City's

         17  low- income uninsured.  In 1998, the Commonwealth

         18  Fund reported that 28 percent working- age adults in

         19  New York City or more than one million men and women

         20  are uninsured, a rate 50 percent higher than that

         21  for New York State or the nation.  Further, the

         22  number of uninsured non- elderly people is growing

         23  more rapidly in New York City then in the rest of

         24  the country.

         25                 In recent years, New York has
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          2  instituted various programs to expand access to care

          3  for uninsured New Yorkers.  The implementation of

          4  these programs, including Medicaid and its expansion

          5  with Child Health Plus and Family Health Plus, have

          6  become the focus of much attention by policy- makers

          7  and the plans many stakeholders.  As advocates or

          8  staffed agencies that provide direct services to New

          9  Yorkers with chronic, disabling health conditions,

         10  we too have been particularly anxious to see these

         11  programs fulfill their promise of health care access

         12  and piece of mind for those we serve.  We have

         13  learned a considerable amount about both effective

         14  and ineffective outreach and advertising about

         15  Medicaid, Child Health Plus, and now Family Health

         16  Plus.  Most significantly, we who work directly with

         17  New Yorkers in greatest need of coverage to combat

         18  or co-exist with their health conditions, understand

         19  the complexity of needs they bring to the problem of

         20  getting and keeping health insurance.

         21                 We have learned that up- to- date,

         22  reliable and accurate information about insurance

         23  options is absolutely critical to any level of

         24  effort to reach the uninsured, and we thank those

         25  members of the Council for a thoughtfully,
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          2  considering written materials and public coverage.

          3  In our experience, the amount of information on this

          4  highly complex topic that the City could reasonably

          5  include in a brochure, would provide an important

          6  and necessary increase in overall awareness, but

          7  only that.

          8                 The level of complexity and

          9  bureaucratic burden we place on New Yorkers applying

         10  for or recertifying their enrollment in Medicaid and

         11  Child Health Plus, has been criticized by

         12  stakeholders and advocates, documented and analyzed

         13  by think tanks and academics, and finally, deemed

         14  unnecessary by a growing number of policy- makers.

         15  Efforts are under way to streamline the application

         16  forms in process, reduce its documentation

         17  requirements, and clarify those procedures now

         18  subject to wide interpretation.  These are steps

         19  toward humanizing a system so entrenched in its own

         20  time consuming and layer bureaucracy, we fear it

         21  will take a very long time to change.

         22                 In the meantime, roughly one- third

         23  or roughly a million of New York's uninsured are

         24  eligible for Medicaid.  Another 150,000 children are

         25  eligible for Child Health Plus, and nearly 400,000
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          2  for Family Health Plus.  Our experience with low-

          3  income, uninsured New Yorkers, as well as with

          4  programs to expand Medicaid enrollment, tells us

          5  that people need knowledgeable counselors to help

          6  them navigate their way into public insurance.

          7                 Fortunately, policy- makers are

          8  beginning to heed the call for direct ombudsman

          9  services.  At the advice of consumer advocates the

         10  State created enrollment facilitators to support

         11  families submitting Child Health Plus applications

         12  several years ago, and expanded their charge to

         13  include Family Health applications when that program

         14  was authorized in 2000.  Both the State and City

         15  have funded Managed Care Assistance Consumer

         16  programs, not necessarily to serve the uninsured,

         17  but to help people with questions and problems with

         18  their insurance.  Data from the City's Managed Care

         19  Consumer Assistance Program, however, illustrates

         20  that roughly half of their calls are from people

         21  lacking coverage who need information about where to

         22  go and what to do.

         23                 In addition, the HealthStat Program,

         24  while not actively geared towards ombudsman

         25  services, established health coverage information

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            100

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  resources in the community, so New Yorkers could

          3  access basic information about Child Health Plus

          4  where they live and work.  It clearly recognized the

          5  need to learn from public services in one's own

          6  language, in familiar locations and from trusted

          7  institutions.

          8                 If you did a best practices study

          9  based on reports from these existing services, you

         10  would likely find verification of what most

         11  community- based advocates and their uninsured

         12  clients could tell you from personal experience.

         13  Optimally effective programs would likely consist of

         14  the following:  First, community outreach and

         15  publicity campaigns, followed by navigation services

         16  provided by knowledgeable and trusted community-

         17  based groups, who in turn are backed up by clear and

         18  consistent interpretation and guidance from HRA.

         19                 With good planning, implementation

         20  and accountability, we believe this is possible

         21  despite the staggering complexity that we now know

         22  creates barriers to enrollment in public coverage.

         23  As we continue to press for greater simplicity and

         24  public coverage administration, we look to the

         25  recent phenomenal success of Disaster Relief
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          2  Medicaid, and know that less is more.  As you have

          3  heard from my colleague, or will hear from my

          4  colleague, Susan Dooha, easing enrollment and

          5  documentation requirements for Medicaid during this

          6  period increased the enrollment rate six times over.

          7                 Ms. Alma Rodriguez is here to

          8  describe briefly how enrollment in Medicaid during

          9  the Disaster Relief Medicaid period made a

         10  difference in her life and health.

         11                 We would both be happy to answer

         12  questions.  And thank you, again, for this

         13  opportunity.  I give you, Ms. Rodriguez.

         14                 MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Hello, I'm Alma.  I'm

         15  glad to be here.  Thank you for listening to me.

         16                 My most pressing needs for medical

         17  care are for that of my asthma, anemia and kidney

         18  problems for which I was hospitalized and put into

         19  the Intensive Care Unit a little over a year ago.

         20  After which, due to lack of medical coverage, I was

         21  not able to obtain further medical care for my

         22  illnesses.

         23                 The Emergency Medicaid Relief Program

         24  has greatly helped me to obtain medical care for all

         25  my health care needs, which I think will afford me
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          2  the health I need in order to return to work.

          3                 My concerns are:

          4                 How can I continue to obtain medical

          5  coverage once the Emergency Medicaid Relief Program

          6  is over?

          7                 How truly accessible will it be to

          8  obtain Medicaid or medical coverage for single,

          9  married, non- working individuals?

         10                 Considering also that in order to

         11  qualify for Medicaid, one can barely have an income.

         12    Since some jobs do not have medical coverage or

         13  insurance, like for instance, restaurants, which I

         14  was working at one time, and paying out- of- pocket

         15  is overwhelmingly expensive, in most cases not

         16  affordable to many.  Is there, would there be some

         17  kind of total health care coverage for those whose

         18  income is a little over the allowance, that

         19  allowance to qualify for Medicaid, but not high

         20  enough to afford out- of pocket health insurance?

         21                 I would like to add that I heard

         22  about the Medicaid through a friend.  I did not get

         23  any information, and I think a lot of people learned

         24  about this program through word of mouth. Because of

         25  speaking to other friends of mine and that they also
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          2  learned from someone else, not through any

          3  particular pamphlet or any information that they got

          4  out of the newspaper.

          5                 And going to the offices to apply for

          6  the Relief Medicaid, there was a tremendous amount

          7  of people, and I realized that I was not alone and

          8  that there were a lot of people, probably in my

          9  situation who had not gone for health care coverage

         10  through the Medicaid because they did not think that

         11  they could get it. They thought they probably could

         12  not qualify for it.  And because of the Relief

         13  Program now they were able to get that care, and

         14  that is why they went in bunches to get health care.

         15                 I think we need health care in order

         16  to prevent serious illnesses and costs later on.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Thank you.  In

         19  both of your testimonies, you raised issues, which

         20  are somewhat beyond the bill, but I think are

         21  important issues for the agenda of the Committee,

         22  certainly, and they speak to the need for expanding

         23  the coverage that we, you know, as a city and state

         24  offer.  But certainly, your overall comments

         25  underscore the need to get information out to people
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          2  who qualify for the existing programs, because there

          3  are so many people who do and just do not even have

          4  the information.

          5                 Do any members, Council members have

          6  questions? Thank you both very much.

          7                 MS. CALDER:  If I could just add one

          8  thought.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Certainly.

         10                 MS. CALDER:  It occurred to me, one

         11  of the things you may consider doing given the

         12  tremendous success of that Disaster Relief Medicaid

         13  System here, is to bear witness to that and possibly

         14  do a resolution to the State about the success of

         15  that and what lessons were learned?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Well we can look

         17  into that, absolutely.

         18                 MS. CALDER:  Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  And just so you

         20  know, some Council members participated in the

         21  Citizens Action Press Conference last Friday, I

         22  think it was.  So we will definitely try to expand

         23  on that.

         24                 Thank you both very much.

         25                 After Mary, we're going to hear from
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          2  Susan Dooha of the New York Task Force on Medicaid

          3  Managed Care, and then after that Lara Rabiee and

          4  Deborah Berman from the Community Service Society.

          5                 MS. CALDER:  Okay, thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Thank you.  Go

          7  ahead, Mary.

          8                 MS. HENWOOD-KLUTZ:  Good afternoon.

          9  My name is Mary Henwood-Klutz, and I'm the Director

         10  of Cancer Control for the American Cancer Society.

         11  And I would like to take this opportunity to thank

         12  Council Member Chris Quinn for holding this hearing

         13  and for her support on this proposed legislation.

         14                 We support the Council's finding that

         15  despite the availability of public health insurance

         16  programs, such as we have heard already, Medicaid,

         17  Medicare, Child Health Plus, et cetera, there are

         18  still many New Yorkers who are eligible to be

         19  insured but remain without adequate health care

         20  coverage and we see this every day.  The numbers are

         21  particularly troublesome, given the creation of the

         22  HealthStat program, which I know has had its

         23  successes here and there.  To further illustrate

         24  this point, I wanted to inform the City Council of

         25  the Healthy Women Partnerships, which the Council
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          2  has actually, you know, you fund $750,000 to the

          3  Healthy Women Partnerships, which provides free

          4  mammograms and free cervical cancer screening tests

          5  to uninsured women.

          6                 The American Cancer Society is the

          7  lead agency in five out of the eight Healthy Women

          8  Partnerships throughout New York City, and they're

          9  in each Borough.  These partnerships, each year,

         10  link more than 25,000 women who are uninsured or

         11  under insured to free breast and cervical cancer

         12  screening, and it follows them through from if they

         13  had a normal mammogram or a mammogram with - -  I'm

         14  kind of going off of my script, I hope that is okay,

         15   - -  follows them from the time of a mammogram

         16  throughout diagnosis and treatment should they have

         17  cancer.  Many of these women are immigrant women,

         18  and some communities, like in Queens, 80 percent of

         19  them are born in another country, and in other

         20  boroughs that the demographics are a little bit

         21  different. But these women are referred to this

         22  program, this free program primarily through

         23  outreach and education that is done by the American

         24  Cancer Society and our other community partners.

         25                 They're unaware of the programs that
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          2  are available to them, and we think this proposed

          3  legislation would be a really good opportunity for

          4  all of the partnerships to inform these women about

          5  their eligibility for this program.  Interestingly,

          6  all the Healthy Women Partnerships met yesterday in

          7  our offices, and some people were concerned that

          8  handing this out was actually going to decrease the

          9  number of women into this program, and I said, I

         10  hope so.  Because this program only treats them in

         11  body parts, and this, you know, Family Health Plus

         12  would get them enrolled into comprehensive health

         13  care.  So I think that is a good thing.  But we're

         14  reaching a decent amount of women, and we have

         15  established a relationship with them, so handing out

         16  the brochure we feel will be effective.

         17                 So I would like to applaud Council

         18  Members Moskowitz, Katz, Liu, Quinn, Reed, Rivera,

         19  and Brewer for being the primary sponsors of the

         20  bill and for taking necessary steps to ensure that

         21  the public health needs of all New Yorkers are not

         22  being compromised.

         23                 And I can take any questions, if you

         24  have them.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Thank you, and I
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          2  think the Healthy Women's Partnership is, you know,

          3  a great example of a missed opportunity.

          4                 MS. HENWOOD-KLUTZ:  Right.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  And you're

          6  absolutely right, since you already have

          7  relationships with those women, you're much more

          8  likely able to help them get enrolled.

          9                 Does anyone have any questions?

         10  Thank you.

         11                 MS. HENWOOD-KLUTZ:  Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  All right, Susan.

         13    And then, is Lara Rabiee and Deborah Berman, are

         14  they still here?

         15                 MS. RABIEE:  I'm here, Deborah Berman

         16  is not.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Okay, and how

         18  about Tara Scher? She just stepped out.  And Adam

         19  Gurvitch, is he still here?  He just stepped out,

         20  okay, terrific.

         21                 MS. DOOHA:  Good afternoon, Council

         22  Member Quinn, and thank you for this opportunity to

         23  testify.  My name is Susan Dooha.  I'm Director of

         24  Health Policy at Gay Men's Health Crisis, and I

         25  Chair the New York City Task Force on Medicaid
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          2  Managed Care, which is a coalition of some 200

          3  individuals and organizations citywide that

          4  represent and serve Medicaid beneficiaries and low

          5  income, uninsured individuals.  We include

          6  organizations that serve children, adolescents,

          7  women, the elderly, the homeless, people with

          8  serious illnesses and disabilities including HIV and

          9  Mental Illness.

         10                 And Task Force members believe that

         11  this is an important opportunity today, to talk

         12  about Intro. 13, and to learn some lessons from the

         13  sort of natural experiment that emerged in the wake

         14  of September 11th and in the deepening economic

         15  recession that our City faces that is costing so

         16  many newly uninsured people to be, people to be

         17  newly uninsured.

         18                 We not only support Intro. 13, we

         19  also would like to see the Council encourage the

         20  simplification of Medicaid and Family Health Plus

         21  eligibility and enrollment, working together with

         22  the State of New York, as Judy Wessler has

         23  suggested.  We also want the City Council to renew

         24  its support for the Managed Care Consumer Assistance

         25  Program that I know Lara is going to speak with you
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          2  about later, which began as a City Council

          3  initiative at the urging of community groups led by

          4  the Task Force.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Just so you know,

          6  an invitation is going out today or in the next

          7  couple of days, we're going to be doing a breakfast

          8  for City Council members with folks from that

          9  program, so the new folks on the Council can better

         10  utilize their services.

         11                 MS. HENWOOD-KLUTZ:  As one of the

         12  founders of the program and as member of its

         13  Advisory Board, I was just advised of the breakfast,

         14  and I'm excited to see you having that breakfast. I

         15  think it is a critical opportunity for people to

         16  learn about what is being done now in our

         17  communities, based in the community to help people

         18  get coverage and to navigate the health system.

         19  Because I think that that is where some of the most

         20  successful efforts take place, is in the very

         21  neighborhoods where people are who are uninsured,

         22  and where people come to seek support and assistance

         23  with all of their kinds, all of their different

         24  needs.

         25                 First, in the wake of September 11th,
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          2  we learned that if you build it, they will come, and

          3  if you do a streamlined, one- page application and

          4  you give people an instantaneous determination of

          5  their eligibility so that they can take their card

          6  and go the same day to the doctor, people will come

          7  forward in droves and stand on line even for many,

          8  many hours in the pouring rain.  And when turned

          9  away from one site, go to another site to get that

         10  coverage, because finally the barriers have been

         11  taken down, not enough, and we still have

         12  recommendations about how things can be improved in

         13  the enrollment process.  But an enormous barrier

         14  removal process happened with the Disaster Relief

         15  Medicaid Program.

         16                 We also learned by coming forward as

         17  community- based groups that we could do a lot to

         18  spread the word about insurance programs to the

         19  people that we serve in our communities.  And when

         20  community groups came forward and did enormous

         21  training efforts, community- wide, we were able to

         22  get a lot of people to come forward to get coverage.

         23    It would not have been possible if so many of the

         24  application barriers had still been in place to do

         25  as well as we did getting 379,000 people enrolled
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          2  within a four- month period, but, you know, still

          3  the community effort can make an enormous

          4  difference.

          5                 I want to speak to some of the things

          6  that Jim Capoziello referred to earlier, and also

          7  Linda Hacker referred to earlier.  Indeed, the

          8  HealthStat effort is an important one, and they have

          9  done a good deal to get out the word to families

         10  with children about children's health insurance,

         11  either via Child Health Plus or the Medicaid

         12  program.  But their effort has not reached adults,

         13  and a very, very significant proportion of the

         14  uninsured population is adults, Black and Hispanic

         15  adults, who are young adults, who are single, who

         16  are childless, who are not going to be reached

         17  through school enrollment efforts, school health

         18  fairs and so on, but who need to be part of our

         19  outreach effort.  So I commend the HealthStat effort

         20  for reaching out to children, and I understand that

         21  they have done a very good job there, but I think

         22  there is an enormous opportunity here to reach out

         23  to adults as well who are uninsured, young, working

         24  adults.

         25                 I know that they also referred to the
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          2  Maximus program, which does education about Medicaid

          3  Managed Care, but does not do work around

          4  eligibility and enrollment in the Medicaid program

          5  actually.  And so there is a lot room there to be

          6  promoting the Medicaid program and helping people

          7  with enrollment there.

          8                 They also referred to the facilitated

          9  enrollment program, which is an exciting program

         10  that relies on community based organizations,

         11  Dominica, Alianza Dominicana and other groups in

         12  neighborhoods to help reach out to children.  And to

         13  help reach out to parents, but their systems are not

         14  really set up, again, to reach out to single adults

         15  and childless couples, many of whom are uninsured.

         16  And so there is a need to focus efforts there, as

         17  well, looking at who are the uninsured and focusing

         18  efforts on those communities where you find the most

         19  uninsured or those occupations where you find the

         20  most uninsured.  And there is some good data on that

         21  from the United Hospital Fund available.

         22                 The State is producing a joint

         23  application, and I had understood, a brochure

         24  describing the three different programs, Child

         25  Health Plus, Family Health Plus and the Medicaid
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          2  Program, and there are some differences among these

          3  programs in terms of what is covered and how you go

          4  about getting your care.  And those differences are

          5  really important to point out to people, because

          6  people need to know, not only that there is a number

          7  they can call to get coverage, they have a lot of

          8  needs about how to navigate the system and what are

          9  they supposed to be able to get.  A lot of people

         10  who come forward for education about - -

         11                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Susan, I just

         12  want to - -

         13                 MS. DOOHA: --  come forward with

         14  questions about what is covered.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  I'm sorry to

         16  interrupt, I just have to step out for a moment, and

         17  Council Member Vann is going to take over chairing,

         18  and I will return in a minute.

         19                 MS. DOOHA:  Thank you, Council Member

         20  Quinn.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  I'm sorry.

         22                 MS. DOOHA:  I wanted to pick up on

         23  the idea of a Community Advisory Board that could be

         24  working with the Department of Health Care Access

         25  and possibly, you know, the Human Resources
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          2  Administration around outreach and education.  I

          3  think that there has not really been enough of an

          4  all hands- on deck kind of attitude about addressing

          5  the uninsured, let's all come together and work

          6  community groups together with the City to bring

          7  about the kind of vast outreach and response to this

          8  crisis that we need.  There needs to be regular

          9  communication between the community and the agencies

         10  that is focused on achievable objectives in getting

         11  the word out to our communities.

         12                 It is critically important, and we

         13  have learned this from the Medicaid Managed Care

         14  program, that we have clear standards on language

         15  access in our outreach efforts.  We have had

         16  enormous difficulty getting language accessible

         17  materials, materials in Chinese, materials in

         18  Haitian Creole, materials in Korean, materials in

         19  languages that people speak throughout the City.

         20  For Medicaid Managed Care it would be a shame to

         21  repeat that difficult and slow process of getting

         22  translated materials, for a program that is trying

         23  to reach people who are insured.  So from the very

         24  beginning in this initiative it would be great to

         25  see a strong language standard that needs to be met
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          2  in getting information out there.

          3                 I would also commend to your

          4  attention, quickly, material available from the

          5  Commonwealth Fund about efforts in other states to

          6  simplify getting into coverage and to get the word

          7  out about coverage.  Because there are other states

          8  that are doing some interesting things in terms of

          9  reaching out through community media, and

         10  neighborhood groups, certainly, through mailings and

         11  through printed literature, because repetition is

         12  the mother of learning and it is always good to get

         13  the word out.  But also coupled with or married with

         14  community- based helping programs.

         15                 And I want to thank you for listening

         16  to my observations and comments today, and I very

         17  much look forward to working with you as you move

         18  forward with this Introduction.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON VANN:  Thank you,

         21  any questions? Dr. Stewart.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Could you

         23  elaborate on what the other cities and states are

         24  doing that we are not doing, if there is anything

         25  that you know, so that they can reach the uninsured?
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          2                 MS. DOOHA:  Yes, it's some of the

          3  things that we were beginning to do with Disaster

          4  Relief Medicaid in the community.  There were bus

          5  cards and posters about Disaster Relief Medicaid all

          6  over the place, and, you know, express line to

          7  health coverage.  There was the beginning of

          8  outreach to community media, including the ethnic

          9  media, media that prints in languages other than

         10  English for people who speak a primary language

         11  other than English.  Things like that were very

         12  effective.

         13                 And I would be happy to share the

         14  report with you and explore it further.  But those

         15  were important strategies.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Have you

         17  seen where the, any of these cities or states are

         18  advertising in the local media rather than the big

         19  newspapers to reach the uninsured, have you seen

         20  that?

         21                 MS. DOOHA:  I think that is very much

         22  the point, and I think too, with Disaster Relief

         23  Medicaid here, the community felt that it was very

         24  much the point that we reach out through local

         25  papers, that is really where people turn a lot of
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          2  the time, as well as to their local neighborhood

          3  associations.

          4                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON VANN:  Any further

          5  questions?  I thank you for a very fine testimony.

          6                 MS. DOOHA:  Thank you very much.

          7                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON VANN:  The Interim

          8  Chair would like to call Lara Rabiee, Community

          9  Service Society, give Mr. Jones my regards.

         10                 MS. RABIEE:  Good afternoon.

         11                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON VANN:  Good

         12  afternoon.

         13                 MS. RABIEE:  My name is Lara Rabiee,

         14  and I'm a Policy Analyst at the Community Service

         15  Society of New York, CSS. I present this testimony

         16  in support of Intro. 13 on behalf of David R. Jones,

         17  President, Chief Executive Officer of CSS.

         18                 CSS is a private, non-profit agency

         19  that has been leading the fight against poverty in

         20  New York City for 150 years.

         21                 The Managed Care Consumer Assistance

         22  Program, or MCCAP for short, was established in 1998

         23  by the New York City Council in response to

         24  consumers concerns about help with, getting help

         25  with managed care.  The MCCAP provides information,
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          2  education and advice to consumers on all aspects of

          3  managed care, how to find a health plan that is

          4  appropriate for you, how to access services within

          5  the health plan, and to overcome any barriers you

          6  might face within the health plan.  The MCCAP has

          7  also played an important role in helping uninsured

          8  and underinsured New Yorkers understand how to get

          9  health insurance.  We, therefore, applaud the

         10  members of City Council for this new initiative to

         11  publicize the availability of health insurance

         12  options for New Yorkers.

         13                 Of the more than 6,000 clients the

         14  MCCAP assisted in the first year of the program,

         15  nearly half were uninsured and they needed help

         16  determining their eligibility for specific health

         17  insurance programs, such as Medicaid and Child

         18  Health Plus, or finding any type of insurance at

         19  all.  And just to let you know, this half has been

         20  consistent from the very first month to the last

         21  month that I'm talking about, this one and a half

         22  year period, it's always been half of our clients

         23  needing help to find insurance. Thus, the problem of

         24  uninsured is so great that a program set up

         25  initially to assist insured New Yorkers, has
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          2  necessarily had to play a large role in helping

          3  uninsured New Yorkers find insurance. Clearly, New

          4  Yorkers do not have adequate access to information

          5  on publicly sponsored health insurance.

          6                 Intro. 13's pamphlet describing

          7  public health insurance options, produced in

          8  multiple languages, and distributed widely by City

          9  agencies is a vital and important project.  The need

         10  for pamphlets in multiple languages is especially

         11  important.  To reach the diverse communities of New

         12  York, the MCCAP had to translate its managed care

         13  educational booklets into Spanish, Chinese, Korean,

         14  Russian, Yiddish, Haitian Creole, Arabic and Greek,

         15  and I have some of them here with me today, if you

         16  care to look.

         17                 But underinsured and uninsured New

         18  Yorkers need more than just information, they also

         19  need help weighing their options, understanding

         20  often times complicated eligibility requirements,

         21  completing lengthy applications and preparing

         22  supporting documents, and you have heard from other

         23  people giving testimony today about what barriers

         24  those can pose.  Once insured, they also need help

         25  accessing health care services through their health
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          2  insurance plan, managed care plans or HMOs.  MCCAP

          3  has provided such assistance via its network of

          4  community- based organizations located throughout

          5  the five boroughs.  The ethnic and social service

          6  agencies that make up this network allow consumers

          7  to receive information in the languages they know

          8  and by people they trust.

          9                 We thank the City Council and Chair

         10  Quinn for their past support, and hope that the

         11  Council will continue to work to adequately fund the

         12  MCCAP program in Fiscal Year 2003.

         13                 Thanks very much.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  Thank you, I'm

         15  sorry I missed part of it.  Does anyone have any

         16  questions?  We will all be having breakfast soon.

         17                 We're now going to hear from Adam

         18  Gurvitch of the New York Immigration Coalition.

         19                 MR. GURVITCH:  Thank you for

         20  providing this opportunity to comment on Intro. 13.

         21  My name is Adam Gurvitch. I'm the Director of Health

         22  Advocacy for The New York Immigration Coalition.

         23  We're a network of 150, more than 150 groups in New

         24  York, excuse me, that work with immigrant serving

         25  organizations. And I want to mention that in the
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          2  last several years we have registered nearly 200,000

          3  New York City residents to vote, new citizen voters,

          4  and that health access is one of the top issues both

          5  for the network of groups that we serve and for new

          6  citizen voters in New York.

          7                 I'm sorry, I just ran up the stair

          8  so.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN:  So did I.

         10                 MR. GURVITCH:  So it's good that I'm

         11  talking now.

         12                 Nearly two- thirds of New York's

         13  residents are immigrants or the children of

         14  immigrants.  And I think it's important as we

         15  consider the measure that is being considered that

         16  we take into account the fact that so many New York

         17  City residents are newcomers or living in households

         18  with newcomers.  And that immigrants do have a

         19  special set of concerns, and these have already been

         20  raised by some of the Council members.  And I think

         21  it is extremely appropriate that we talk about what

         22  some of those concerns are, because a lot of the

         23  information that we get through our State Department

         24  of Health or the City may say something like, there

         25  are now two great ways for kids to get covered.
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          2  But, in fact, each kid is only eligible for one form

          3  of Child Health Plus, not two forms, it's not that

          4  the consumer has a choice.  And so it is very

          5  confusing marketing to begin with, and then it does

          6  not really address people's fears and concerns,

          7  which are the real obstacles on why nearly a million

          8  New Yorkers are eligible for insurance but do not

          9  access insurance.

         10                 So here are some examples of

         11  questions that face newcomer families, and it would

         12  be really appropriate if the brochure, the outreach

         13  materials that are under consideration would address

         14  some of these concerns:

         15                 If a New Yorker has used Medicaid, is

         16  she prevented from sponsoring an immigrant family

         17  member for the green card?

         18                 Will an immigrant have to pay the

         19  government back, if she gets sick and uses Medicaid?

         20                 Can an immigrant become a naturalized

         21  citizen if he has used public health insurance?

         22                 Does the emergency room share

         23  information about patients with the INS?

         24                 So if you cannot go to consumers and

         25  help them to overcome some of their confusion and
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          2  fears around these sorts of questions, you are

          3  absolutely not going to make a dent in the number of

          4  uninsured in New York City.  So not only do people

          5  need information about programs, but that

          6  information should really be very specific about

          7  what immigrants are eligible for, and then some of

          8  their concerns can be addressed.  And these are not

          9  always simple questions to answer, but we would be

         10  happy to work with the Department of Public Health

         11  to craft clear messages.  All of these questions are

         12  answerable and it's not that bad.

         13                 And while New York can and should

         14  simplify enrollment for Medicaid and Family Health

         15  Plus as we have learned from the Disaster Relief

         16  Medicaid Project, that is an incredible,

         17  streamlining can make incredible differences, but

         18  it's important also to recognize that streamlining

         19  alone is not sufficient.  And that public

         20  information is a kind of crucial opportunity to

         21  reach people with some of the information that will

         22  help clear up their concerns.  So that a simple,

         23  one- page application form is fine, but if people

         24  are still afraid to share their information with the

         25  government, it's not alone going to make that big of
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          2  a difference.

          3                 And then the other important piece of

          4  information is that in the past year nearly every

          5  public health coverage program in New York State has

          6  had a change in terms of immigrant eligibility.  And

          7  that information has not been broadly shared, so

          8  there is no longer a five- year bar, all legal

          9  immigrants are able to sign up for public coverage

         10  on the same basis as native born New Yorkers.  The

         11  main groups of immigrants today who are

         12  categorically excluded from Medicaid and Family

         13  Health Plus are the undocumented. And people here on

         14  non- immigrant tourist visas, those are students and

         15  visitors, that information is not widely known.  So

         16  the 80,000 New York City residents who are on the

         17  green card backlog, in fact, are eligible for

         18  Medicaid and Family Health Plus, but that is not

         19  widely understood.  So we really have got to do a

         20  good job communicating, and it is not enough just

         21  for community- based groups to go out and get the

         22  word out.  It really makes a difference when

         23  government, itself, speaks to the consumer and helps

         24  them to understand that they are eligible.

         25                 So I would say that the Council
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          2  should pass Intro. 13, and it should issue a deeper

          3  mandate, as well.  And that would be to assure that

          4  communities receive accurate information about

          5  public health coverage and affordable care, and that

          6  the City holds agencies and hospitals accountable

          7  for sharing accurate information.  I cannot tell you

          8  how many times I meet with our member organizations

          9  who say that they have to go down to the Medicaid

         10  Office because Medicaid told a potential applicant

         11  that you have to be a citizen to be eligible for

         12  Family Health Plus or for Medicaid, that is

         13  outrageous, it's not true, it's a violation of their

         14  rights and it should stop.

         15                 So it would be great if the City

         16  would, if the Council would also look at these sort

         17  of, these issues of accountability.  There is a

         18  radical need for retraining at HRA, front line

         19  eligibility workers really need to understand what

         20  categories of immigrants are able to enroll in

         21  programs and to not turn them away.  Hospital

         22  workers need retraining, as well as facilitator

         23  enrollers.  All of these are individuals who are

         24  getting paid on public dollars to be gatekeepers to

         25  public coverage, and if they're not sharing accurate
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          2  information, it's a violation of individual's

          3  rights.  It's just a flagrant as saying, if you're a

          4  woman of color, you're not eligible for Medicaid,

          5  it's outrageous, and it needs to stop.  These are

          6  public employees, they're people receiving public

          7  dollars for turning away eligible individuals from

          8  coverage.  It also does not make sense in terms of

          9  the health care system and our economic concerns.

         10                 I noticed in the bill that it's

         11  talking about optimizing primary care and reducing

         12  unneeded emergency room care. And so when folks are

         13  eligible for insurance and they're not provided with

         14  that coverage, it's a lost opportunity for the

         15  system to get reimbursed.

         16                 And within HHC, there is a particular

         17  problem with Emergency Medicaid.  Emergency Medicaid

         18  is available to undocumented immigrants in cases of

         19  emergency, if they have an emergency need.  And it

         20  is not generally utilized in a consistent way across

         21  providers, or even within one facility.  So there

         22  are federal Medicaid dollars that the system could

         23  be drawing down every time an undocumented

         24  individual needs emergency care.  What the system

         25  needs to do, is to fill out a Medicaid application
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          2  on behalf of that individual and fill out a one-

          3  page form for Emergency Medicaid, and that is not

          4  happening.

          5                 So what happens is that individuals,

          6  low- income working individuals are stuck with the

          7  full bill for emergency services, which they cannot

          8  pay.  HHC and other providers hire collection

          9  agencies to go after those individuals, instead of

         10  simply billing Medicaid and getting some

         11  compensation, that is a practice the Council should

         12  look into and hopefully change.

         13                 So I do want to thank the Council for

         14  introducing No. 13.  I think it is a great proposal.

         15    I think it is outrageous for the Department of

         16  Health and the City agencies to come down an say

         17  that people have enough information and that there

         18  is over saturation, and that it is a waste of effort

         19  to create a brochure and get that out.  It is

         20  absolutely needed.  I also appreciate the fact that

         21  it is being proposed in a number of languages, and

         22  that is absolutely needed by our communities, as

         23  well.

         24                 And then in order to address some of

         25  the, what can seem like complicated issues around
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          2  immigrant eligibility, I would offer the assistance

          3  of the New York Immigration Coalition, if that is

          4  desired, to help in crafting any brochure or putting

          5  materials together.

          6                 Thank you very much.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Am I to hear

          8  you right, could you explain this, you said, that

          9  legal residents that is on Medicaid, there is no

         10  legal obstacle that they will face if they want to

         11  help or assist their brothers or sisters or spouse

         12  or whoever in sponsoring?  Are you saying there is

         13  no legal obstacle?

         14                 MR. GURVITCH:  There is no

         15  categorical obstacle.  If I have used Medicaid in

         16  the past, I can sponsor my close family relative to

         17  come.  The issue is that in order to be eligible for

         18  Medicaid, you need to have a certain income level,

         19  which is lower than the level that is required to

         20  sponsor a family member.  So if I earn 125 percent

         21  of the federal poverty level, I can sponsor my wife,

         22  for example, to adjust, to get a green card, to

         23  basically come and be a resident.  But I can have a

         24  lower income and be eligible for Medicaid.

         25                 The problem would happen at the day
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          2  when she comes for her green card interview, if I'm

          3  using Medicaid that could be a problem.  But we can

          4  get a co- sponsor, so you could sponsor her, you do

          5  not have to be her relative to be a financial

          6  sponsor.  And so she is able to get her status

          7  adjusted, and I'm able to get the health care that I

          8  need.

          9                 So it gets a little complicated, but

         10  there are no hard and fast rules that if you used

         11  Medicaid, you cannot sponsor somebody, or if you

         12  have used Medicaid, you cannot adjust status. There

         13  is nothing prohibiting someone from naturalizing, if

         14  they have used public coverage.  But there is a lot

         15  of confusion around those issues.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Yes, there

         17  is a confusion of anyone who has been on Medicaid in

         18  the past, will have to pay back that money or I

         19  think it said that they would have to pay back that

         20  money if they want to sponsor someone.  Could you

         21  clear that up, because it seems to be confusing

         22  here, because anyone who was on Medicaid is really

         23  public, is really public funds.  And the federal

         24  government had something that came down in the last

         25  ruling, that if you use Medicaid or if you use
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          2  public funds, you cannot sponsor someone, so how do

          3  you clear that, how do you straighten that out?

          4                 MR. GURVITCH:  Yes, that is actually,

          5  that is not actually accurate.  You can use a

          6  variety of different public programs and still

          7  sponsor a family member.  The issue on being asked

          8  to repay the cost of care is something that I have

          9  heard as well, but that is not a policy that is

         10  applied across the board, and I'm not even sure that

         11  that is legal.  So a lot of individuals who have

         12  used public benefits in the past are able to sponsor

         13  family members.  The question would be, today, there

         14  is some uncertainty in New York State around

         15  Medicaid and Family Health Plus and sponsors'

         16  liability, and there is no way to say with certainty

         17  that sponsors would not have to pay back the cost of

         18  Medicaid that a legal immigrant uses today.  So if I

         19  sponsor a family member, and that individual signs

         20  up for Medicaid, at some point, any time within 10

         21  years after the last time they used care, I could be

         22  asked to pay back the cost of that care.  And there

         23  is a lack of clarity on that issue.

         24                 And that is another area where the

         25  Council may want to look at the language in State
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          2  law, the language could be adjusted a little bit, or

          3  maybe in the City the law could be adjusted a little

          4  bit so that the local social service agency would

          5  only go after sponsors to the extent required by

          6  federal law. Right now it says to the extent

          7  permitted by federal law.  But there are these kind

          8  of small issues that out there.

          9                 But the fact is that I can sponsor a

         10  family member, if I have used public benefits in the

         11  past.  And that an individual can adjust status, if

         12  they have used Medicaid.  The only circumstances,

         13  which would raise a public charge consideration,

         14  would be if the individual was in a nursing home or

         15  in a psychiatric hospital at the time their green

         16  card application comes up.  And pretty much any

         17  other circumstance, the immigrant who uses the

         18  public health coverage is not going to face that as

         19  an obstacle to adjusting status.

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON VANN:  It seems to

         21  me that there are a number of issues in terms of

         22  immigrants access health services, education, social

         23  services and the like.  And in fact, if I was the

         24  Speaker, I would have you co-chair a Committee on

         25  that. But in the absence, maybe that is something we
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          2  can see.  I think, really, there seems to be a whole

          3  area here where we really need to look at around

          4  those concerns.  So perhaps we will have our Chair

          5  to raise that.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  I would

          7  like, if you could, put some information together,

          8  because when I do have my immigration forum, the

          9  people from INS they talk about things like that.

         10  And maybe they do not understand or know the correct

         11  laws on that.  Because if you are involved in any of

         12  the programs, you're told that you cannot be a

         13  sponsor, or you cannot be sponsoring anyone to join

         14  you.

         15                 On the other hand, also, if you have

         16  sponsored someone who eventually became part of that

         17  program, you're responsible.

         18                 So we need to have some clarity on

         19  that so that we can disseminate this information to

         20  the public.

         21                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON VANN:  I think

         22  that is appropriate and I think that we can direct

         23  our staff to inquire into that situation and come

         24  back with some clarity, so if policy is necessary,

         25  we can address that.
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          2                 Yes, thank you very much, you have

          3  been very helpful.

          4                 MR. GURVITCH:  Can I just make one

          5  comment based on what you just said?  That is the

          6  real concern, that is the real issue on why our

          7  communities do not trust public coverage, because

          8  they have got different government representatives

          9  telling them different things, a lot of it is not

         10  accurate.  So we had community groups trained a

         11  couple of weeks ago by State Department of Health

         12  staff, they're going to be facilitated enrollers.

         13  The whole idea of putting public dollars to

         14  facilitated enrollment is that these are community

         15  groups that can actually communicate with the

         16  individuals in their language, they understand their

         17  needs.  They were being trained to say that only

         18  citizens are eligible for Family Health Plus, it is

         19  absolutely not correct.  It is the State Department

         20  of Health training our communities with incorrect

         21  information, and they're then supposed to go out and

         22  help to insure New Yorkers?  So I very much

         23  appreciate your interest, and we would be happy to

         24  work with you to get the facts together.

         25                 But it is pretty clear, it is pretty
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          2  clear what the facts are, the problem is that if

          3  they're not widely understood and they're not

          4  understood by the people who hold the reigns and who

          5  hold the control on whether or not people get

          6  coverage.

          7                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON VANN:  Yes, I

          8  think we can help. Thank you very much.

          9                 MR. GURVITCH:  Thank you.

         10                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON VANN:  Our final

         11  person to give testimony is Tara Scher, I believe.

         12  Tara Scher, Citizens' Committee for Children of New

         13  York.

         14                 MS. SCHER:  Good afternoon.  My name

         15  is Tara Scher, and I'm the Staff Associate for

         16  Health and Mental Health at the Citizens' Committee

         17  for Children of New York.  CCC is a 58- year old,

         18  independent, child advocacy organization dedicated

         19  to ensuring that every New York City child is

         20  healthy, housed, educated and safe.

         21                 Before I begin my remarks, I would

         22  like to thank Chairperson Quinn and the members of

         23  this Committee for providing, first, for providing

         24  with an opportunity to step out a few minutes ago,

         25  and now for providing us with an opportunity to
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          2  comment on the legislative proposal to improve the

          3  dissemination of public health insurance

          4  information.

          5                 Over the last two years, New York

          6  City has made enrolling children in public health

          7  insurance a top priority, and achieved considerable

          8  success in enrolling over 1.3 million children in

          9  Child Health Plus A, also known as Medicaid, and

         10  Child Health Plus B.  Although this is a record that

         11  New York City can take pride in, the reality remains

         12  that thousands of children have yet to be enrolled.

         13                 CCC supports the legislative

         14  amendment that would require the Department of

         15  Public Health to publish a pamphlet describing the

         16  public health insurance programs, a mandate that

         17  City agencies disseminate this pamphlet to all New

         18  Yorkers.  The proposed amendment also requires that

         19  the Department of Public Health publish the pamphlet

         20  in multiple languages.  CCC supports the effort to

         21  communicate this critical information to families in

         22  languages that they understand.

         23                 I would like to turn to the content

         24  of the pamphlet. CCC encourages this Committee to

         25  work with the Department of Public Health, the
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          2  Mayor's Office of Health Insurance Access,

          3  facilitated enrollers and City agencies to ensure

          4  that the pamphlet not be limited to eligibility

          5  criteria, but also inform New Yorkers about the

          6  health, mental health and dental services available

          7  to children and adults who enroll in Child Health

          8  Plus A and Child Health Plus B, Medicaid, HHC Plus

          9  or Family Health Plus.

         10                 This spring, CCC will release a study

         11  that we conducted that examined whether New York

         12  City children enrolled in public health insurance

         13  have access to primary and specialty care. Although

         14  our study showed that most children enrolled in

         15  these programs have access to health services, we

         16  learned that parents and caregivers lacked the

         17  information regarding the scope of the benefits

         18  available to children under these plans.

         19  Specifically, parents and caregivers with children

         20  enrolled in Child Health Plus B had limited or no

         21  knowledge of the mental health and dental benefits

         22  included in their child's health plans.

         23                 We urge the City Council to require

         24  the Department of Public Health pamphlet to include

         25  a description of the array of mental health and
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          2  substance abuse treatment services, such as in

          3  patient services, day treatment and outpatient

          4  services that are covered under the insurance

          5  program and the number of actual visits that are

          6  permitted under the plans each year.  And to also

          7  include a description of the dental benefits that

          8  are covered.  Inclusion of this information, along

          9  with eligibility criteria will likely improve the

         10  access that children have to these services.

         11                 Increasing the number of New York

         12  City children and adults enrolled in health

         13  insurance programs is a win/win situation.  Children

         14  and adults with insurance are more likely to obtain

         15  the primary and specialty care they need, and

         16  providers will receive reimbursement for the

         17  services they render.  Increasing insurance

         18  reimbursement will enable the New York City Health

         19  and Hospital Corporation and other providers to

         20  continue to meet the health and mental health needs

         21  of New York City children and their families.

         22                 Again, CCC supports the bill

         23  requiring the Department of Public Health to publish

         24  a pamphlet that informs New Yorkers about public

         25  health insurance and furthers the City's efforts to

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            139

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  enroll all children in health insurance.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON VANN:  Thank you.

          5  Are there any questions?  Hearing none, again, thank

          6  you.

          7                 MS. SCHER:  Thanks.

          8                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON VANN:  The

          9  attorney is here, and this public hearing stands

         10  adjourned.

         11                 (Hearing concluded at 12:42 p.m.)
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          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, PAT WTULICH, a Notary Public in

         10  and for the State of New York, do hereby certify

         11  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         12  of the within proceeding.

         13                 I further certify that I am not

         14  related to any of the parties to this action by

         15  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         16  interested in the outcome of this matter.
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         18  set my hand this 20th day of February 2001.
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